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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Strategic report

The Directors submit the audited financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

Business overview

The trading activities section in this report details the various activities and assets owned and operated
by the DC Thomson group. These are & combination of internally generated intellectual property and
trading activities complemented by acquired businesses and assets, Our strategy is to grow the value of
our IP and other assets by continuing to develop brands into new income streams and audiences.

Performance has been impacted by the effects of high inflation in both our cost profiles and in depressed
consumer spending limiting the ability to increase prices. Inflation continues to increase costs both
internal and external. Our leadership teams are however engaged in mitigating these effects focusing on
preserving profits and building growth revenues.

Qur stable of Acevilie titles were not performing to expectations and we sought a new owner resulting in
a sale on 31 March 2023. The firancial stalements have been presented 1o show e Aceville numbers
as discontinued items separately from recurring numbers in both years. The discontinued items resulted
in a net Ipss after tax of £2.6m including £1.6m of severance costs.

Revenues

In the year to March 2023 recurring trading revenues were held at £143m although the mix was different,
reflecting the reduced volumes of print revenues being replaced by other revenue streams that are
digitally based or as a result of the market coming out of some of the effects of COVID-19.

+ Circulation revenues fell in newspaper and magazine titles with exceptions in Puzzler and Beano
publications. Overall circulation revenues, despite volume dedlines, were down by 0.1%
supported by a revenue increase cf 47% from digital subscriptions.

= Advertising revenues were down 7% year on year reflecting market conditions.

* the closure of Bunkered Golf Breaks led to the reduction in transacticns revenues.

s [Events income continues to increase gradually after the restrictions in the past two years.

« Marketing services conducted by Fifth Ring increased as it builds global revenues in the energy
sector,

« Genealogy revenues were flat year on year as the bounce from the effects of COVID-19 and
revenues from the 1921 census slowed.

s B2B revenues benefited from growth from Beano Brain data ingights assignments.

Cost of Sales

The inflaticnary increases noted above contributed 10 increased cost of sales of £8m. This increase,
parboutarly in paper and extemal print costs led (o 4% fall in gross margin, Our direct materials are
commaodities, and we are used to cycles of market changes but the increase in energy costs had a
significant effect on the cost of materials and the changes in consumer patterns led to paper mills
changing production o packagmng materiais for the internet consumption stimulated by social changes
during COVID-18, which have continued.

Staff Costs
Staff costs, on a fike for flike basis before pension and severance, increased by £3.9m due to inflationary

increases in pay and a change in the mix of employees as digital staff have replaced a number of cur
print colleagues.

i Registered number SCOO5830



DC Thomson & Company Limited

Strategic report {continued}

There was an increase in national insurance costs resulting from the temporaty increase in the employer
charge from the Exchequer.

During the year a full appraisal of all trading activities was undertaken, and a programme of consultation
was announced prior to the year end regarding the closure of a number of tittes and activities. The costs
of the redundancy programme in the full year were £4.9m excluding the cost of redundancy of Acevitle of
a further £1.6m.

This year the pension costs from the defined benefit scheme were limited to £0.4m (2022 - £3.7m).
Other Costs

Qther expenses cover all costs that are not aflocated to raw materiais or employment benefit casts. They
include marketing, [T, utilities, travel, vehicle costs, professional fees and a large number of indirect
overhead costs. There is a significant increase year on year as costs that have been affected by inflation,
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pandemic. In 2022 these costs were also offset by one-off credits relating to the reversal of onerous lease
provisions in that year.
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There is an impairment charge resuting from the disposal of the Aceville business and provisions against
the carrying vatues of PSP and Stylist. The provision is not a reflection on our confidence in the golf and
advocacy business but an acceptance that the business plans for both of these activities are stifi to
develop.

Qutside of trading items there was a small gain on the dispasal of investments as part of a review of the
portfolio, and an unrealised book [0ss on the value of investments of £151m reflecting a drop in values in
e year.

There is a tax cradit in the year primarily resulting from a fall in the deferred tax provision resulting fram
a reduction in the carrying value of investments.

The business continues to have access 1o reserves with balance sheet assels in excess of £1billion. This
provides great strength and balance allowing us to continue investiment in growth in our core business.

Trading Activities

The Group's trading activities are conducted by the Company and its subsidiaries {detailed in note 24).
These include:

+ Publishing of news, magazine and comic brand content (see below), exploited through both
conventignal ang digiial piatforms,

s Printing and publishing of physical product, including annuals, sold through retail outiets, by direct
delivery and through subscription;

« Development of children’s 'P including television and web development;

«  Exploitation of our significant archive of content;

+ Sale of non-print preducts both anline and in retail outlets;

Radio broadcasting via our local radio stations;

The running of evenis that are linked to the brands;

Marketing communication services,

Printing of newspapers for our own brands and on a contract basis;

The provision of genealogy services by Findmypast, offering content through digital subseriptions

along with British Newspapear Archive records,

+ The pravision by Brightsolid of hybrid cloud, cyber resilience, and IT colocation services.

DC Thomsnm's news titles are; The Courier and Evening Telegraph {both based in Dundee), The Press
and Journal and Evening Express (both based in Aberdeen), the national weekly title The Sunday Post,
and online titles, Energy Voice and SG Voice,
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Strategic report {continued)

The Group's magazine business spans a number of group companies in addition to DC Thomson itself,
including Puzzler Media, The Stylist Group, Beano Studios and PSP, I publishes key titles such as:
Puzzler, The People's Friend, Stylist, The Beano and other childrens titles, The Scots Magazine, My
Weekly, This England and Bunkered.

Our radio stations are Kingdom and Oniginal. Pure Radio was closed in September 2023 post year end.

KPI's in the year to 31 March 2023

2023 2022  Variance Variance

£m £m £m %

Recurring sales revenue 143.1 143.1 0 0%
Gross margin % 58% 82% 6.1 (4.0%)
Circulation 72.3 73.0 0.7) {1.0%)
Advertising 154 16.5 {1.1) {6.8%)
Transactions 2.7 4.4 (1.7} (38.6%)
Events 3.1 28 0.5 19.2%
Marketing services 4.4 3.0 1.4 46.7%
Confract print 3.0 3.0 0.0 0.0%
Genealogy 25.0 252 (0.2) {0.8%)
Cloud services 9.1 83 0.2 2.2%
Others 4.2 42 0.0 C.0%
B2B 3.8 2.3 1.6 89.7%
143.1 143.1 0.0 0.0%

Circuiation
Circulation revenues were marginaily down on last year.

There are falls i newspaper and magazine newsstand sales, but these were largely compensated by
increases in print and digital subscriptions. Digitat subscriptions increased year on year by 47.4%.

Our strong market leadership position in the Puzzle market was maintained during the year,

Advertising

A fall of 8.8% in revenues covering both print and digitat revenues was broadly in line with market trends
as consumer spending changed. In the new financial year, we migrated over to a new National Advertising
sales partner,

Transactions

The key variance in transactions is the closure of Bunkered Golf Breaks. This was a very valuable service,
during the COVID-19 years to Scottish Golf Clubs and hospitality venues that were affected by a loss of
business, but there has been a significant recovery in the travel sector, resulting in less need for our
services, as the sector is well served by larger cperators.

Events
These continued to build on the momentum of last year as we came out of the effects of lockdown.

Conltract print
Contract print has been a useful cantributor {0 our newspaper performance for many vears and there was
a degree of stability this year in terms of revenue even as titles have reduced print runs.

Genealogy

Market conditions for genealogy have also been affected by inflation and consumer trends bt the
revenue has remained stable with the continuing effect of the digital publication of the 1821 England &
Waies Census.
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Strategic report (continued)

Clouid services
The practices of hyperscale players in the public cloud market will constrain Brightsolid's market share
until the customer benefits of full hybrid cloud are more widely estabiished.

Others
No significant change.

Bz
This covers the sale of content rights through syndication and now includes the sale of insights from the

Beano Brain division, which uses carefully collatad dats to give clients insights on trends, particularly with
younger generations who have been engaging with our products for years.

Cash Flow
The cash flow for the Group is detailed on page 19.

LN CAsll LElal e 111U Saseu y wait i1 0l y SGT

e Operating cash was down hy £10m in the year resulting from the pressures on trading activitiss
neted above.

« [nvestment activity cash was an inflow of £21.3m against a £40.5m outfiow in the previots year.
Thig swing resulted primarily from a8 much-reduced purchase of financial assets which this year
were primarily in the unlisted area under DCT Capital. In 2022 the Company had moved cash
accumulated from the sake of Twig and unused cantingencies from the initial stages of COVID-
18 into higher yielding listed investments.

«  Our property in Shoredilch, occupied by FMP, was sold for £5.1m.

+ There were lwo investment disposals in the year. The first was our long-held shares on John
Monziag nic that wae auhiert tn a takeover secondly. a holding which no longer met our
investment criteria.

« The Group continued to invest in data sets for FMP and the technotagy platforms they use.

Future Prospects

Media

The increases in inflation and pressures on the cost of living that has come through the figures has
emphasised our need to accelerate the process of transfarmation to bath a digital business with growth
revenues but also with a strong underlying print media business with some exceptional tittes. It 1s
important that our top management spend their time and their focus on our successful tiiles and building
the future,

This led us Lo decisions on our portfolio of print titles towards the end of the year where we identified
those that de not have a future with DCT. The result of this has been that we have reduced the number
of titles with a reduction in our headcount of 309.That will reduce staff costs by some £9.8m and after
necessary salary inflation in this new year we are in {of some 6% overall) we will have a net reduction of
some £7m of staff cost this year.

Nen-print, growth revenues including early results of digital subscribers and other lines of business have
shown good progress. The plan is fo keep that growth gaing to compensate for the inevitable reductions
in print sales as people's reading habits change. We have a long-term vision for a "Positive Scotland” and
digital subscriptions, We recently announced our target of increasing our subscribars to 626,000 by 2027,
This figure is a target but roughly based on maintaining a refailing revenue of some £52m. This wili allow
us to continue making the guality of our journalism and conlent delivery a key element of the future as it
has been in the past.

The plans to increase digital revenues covers not only newspaper subscribers but also our position in the

Energy Sector from our position in Aberdeen building on Energy Voice which is creating high value
content-in conventional Oil and.Gas bul also, increasingly, in Renewable Energy through SG voice.
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Strategic report (continued)

We are also actively pursuing new business developments using our skills and content. The development
of Insights Services from Beanao Brain is a result of that activity. We now help companies build their own
connections with families using our unparalleled knowledge and insights of Gen Alpha, Gen Z, and their
Millennial parents.

There is a continual review and pricritisation of growth prospects for the communities we serve. For
exampie, the experience in Beano Brain will be rolled out to other efements of our Media offering,

Genealogy

Findmypast has bengfited from the 1921 England & Wales Census digital publication. Progress is being
made in developing platforms and user experience. As there will be no large data sets available in the
near future the business continues to enhance and to source other quality data for the platforms used by
the significant number of subscribers.

Cloud services

Brightsolid is increasmgly well pesitioned to deliver hybrid cloud managed services to its target market of
Scotland and the nerth of England, providing customers with seamless orchestration between public,
private and on-premises cloud platforms. In parallel, the company continues to improve and expand its
cyber resilience services, monitoring customer infrastructure for threats and vulnerabilities in order o
provide a prompt and effective threat response that minimises the risk of cyber-attacks,

In summary we have come through a turbulent trading period along with our peers. We are however
focused on creating growth in business streams that demonstrate quality of earings. This has resulted
in very recent and significant changes in the way we work, and we have continued to develop staff with
the breadth of skills we need for a modern media business whilst maintaining the historic reputation we
have for the quality of our content in the print sector.

We are continuing to seek operational efficiencies across the Group as inflation continues to increase our
costs recognising that cost of living pressures for many of our customers reduces the scope for price
increases. We are also maintaining significant costs in product and technology which allows us ta keep
print and digital products operating together. Workflow efficiencies and tech capability soll outs are
underway, increasing knowledge and content sharing, organically decreasing ‘tradiional’ headcount and
introducing lower touch warkflows.

We have always been cautious in making sure that there are significant liquid reserves to support the
trading businesses and maintain value for shareholders. That covers our company assets and pension
positions. This allows us to consider the long game for growth both organic and by acquisition.

We have significant financial assets and other business interests, which support the main business. The
Group has a prudent policy of maintaining reserves, financial assets and other business interests to caver
all known and implicit liabilities. These include cash and liquid assets and pension assets that are higher
than the expected liabilities. This policy is vital to allow us to cantinue to develop, enhance and protect
our pusiness achivities and trade and to remain strong.

Retirement Benefit Fund

The Thomson Leng Provident Fund continues te have a healthy position as at 31 March 2023 with a
surplus amounting to £364m (2022 - £307m). This surplus is measured under International Accounting
Standards which use a significantly fower discount rate than we have experienced. The increass in
surplus reflects both an improvement in investment values and a reduction in the fiability from the payment
of a year of defined benefit pensions. The quantum of the surplus is only a measure at one point in time
and the Fund is Iooked at long term.

(4]
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Strategic report {continued)

Corporate Governance Report Section 172(1) of the Companies Act and Stakeholder Engagement

5172 of the Companies Act requires our directors to consider the interests of all our stakehclders when
performing their duty to promote the success of the company. We also consider this essential to our ability
to deliver on the Company's strategy and purpose and so ensure the long-term sustainability of the
pusiness. We have a broad range of stakeholders that we engage with at executive and operational
Javels, including colleagues, customers, shareholders, suppliers and pensioners. Where the Board does
not have direct contact with a particular stakeholder group it is kept informed by seniar management on
retevant views, expectations, concerns and needs in arder to be able to factor those perspectives into its
decision-making.

The methods we use for gathering those views and facilitating engagement include employee surveys,
cansumer rasearch, community-based projects, live and on-line shareholder events, and pariicipation in
indusfry bodies.

Shian eiwider cryayemisni o & pindrity (6 S B3arG, and we Sentinued to build that engagement over the
year through our dedicated website, financial updates, and live shareholder events at our Meadowside
and Fleet Street offices. We continue to use the feedback gathered on these initiatives to shape future
interactions.

For more detail on how we engage with our empioyees and other stakeholders please refer to the People
and Culture and Communities sections below.

Wider Governance

The Directors and senior executives are actively engaged stewards of a socially regponsible family
enterprise and mamtan a visible presence i1 ke Cunpany pomching & ong-tarm athos, Jivarsity,
community engagement, socfal respensibifity and sustainabifity.

The Board seeks at all times to maintain the highest standards of conduct, and a commitment to the welti-
being of the Company's staff, pensioners and the communities on which it depends, while continuing to
deliver value for its shareholders.

Board and Executive Compositions

The Group Board consists of five Directors who are family shareholders and descendants of the founders
of the business. It meets regularly to consider such matters as capital allocation, strategy, governance,
risk. leadership effectiveness, culture, stakeholder engagement and to oversee and review trading and
invesiment matters.

There are commitiees in place (© suppott the Group Ooard, which focus on trading, investment and
remuneration.

The Combined Media Board comprises two directors, the Media CEQ and representatives of all key
functions across the media business.

The Investment Board meets regularly and consists of at three of the main Board members, the Finance
Director and the Chief Executive and Investment Officer of Wm. Thamson and Sons.

The Remuneration Committee comprises twe independent experts, a Director, and the Chief People
Officer.

The Board receives reqular and timely information on all key aspects of the business including health and
safety matters, risks and opporiunities, the financial performance of the business, operational matters,
market conditions and sustainability. Key financial information is coltated from the Group's various
accounting systems and the Giuup finance funclion is required to ensurc the integrity of the information
provided.
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Strategic report (continued)

Opportunity and Risk
Risk
The Company's key macro risks and mitigating actions are outlined below. Our systems and controls are

designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of not achieving business objectives and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against a risk materialising and having an effect.

Opportunity

One of the biggest risks is to overlook or fail to take opportunities in a measured way when they present
themselves. Our ongoing strategy review will seek to defiver medium and longer-term opporiunities.
Short-term apportunities to improve performance are more likely to be managed through the Committees
of the Board and by our subsidiary companies.

Remuneration

The process for remuneration is run by our Remuneration Committee, which includes expert, non-
executive members. This committee has clearly defined terms of reference and makes recommendations
to the Board on talent, the recruitment framework and remuneration of senior staff.

Risks and uncertainties

The Group is affected by the general economic conditions in the countries and markets it serves. Our
advertising and other revenues are particularly sensitive to these, The Group continues to devote
appropriate resources to manage risks but alsc to exploit opportunities.

Major risks include the impact of: -

Risk Mitigation ]

inflation and Continuity of Supply

The uncertainties created by continuing changes
in geopolitical issues resulting in uncertainties and
inflation in our supply chains.

Our resources allow us to plan procurement well
ih advance, where practicable. We are also
developing new revenue streams that are aimed
to improve the resilience of the business in
potentially uncertain times. Attracting and keeping
the best people we can is a priority, and we are
engaged in the long-term development of careers
and recognition by way of new reward strategies.

The Group uses its buying power to minimise cost
inCreases whilst being mindful of the quality of
suppliers.

Where appropriate, currency hedge

arrangements are put in place.
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Strategic report (continued)

[Risk_

Mitigation

Market risk
The overall health of both the UK and Global
economies has a direct effect on the performance
of the business. The Group may be vulnerable o
sudden economic downturns which can affect the
level of revenues available.

The Group has orotected itself from both short and
long-term issues by maintaining a healthy batance
sheet with ne recourse 1o borrowings.

The Group strategy I1s constantly evolving but
combines objectives both to strengthen our
position in our conventional media businesses
and to diversify into different sectors.

We continue to invest in marketing and market
research to support our brands and o develop
processes which will allow us to know more about
our customers and therefore to be able 1o offer
them a wider but more focused range of services
and goods both an the high street and oniine.

Competition

Competition exists in all markets in which the
Group operates, and competitors may launch new
products and titles which could adversely affect
the performance of the Group.

We constantly evaluate the performance of our
products and services while investing in new
products and developing digital services and
brands.

Health and Safety

The health and safety of our staff and visitors to
our premises is vital 1o our ongoing businass,
COVID-18 braught info sharp focus the ability of a
major health event to threaten the health of both
our stakeholders and our commercial operations.
The shift to hybrid working has presented a new
set of health and safety risks that need to be
managed.

Health and Safety matters are reported directly to
the Board. The Direciors are aware of
enviranmental, health and safety and ather risks
which could affect our busingss and pricritise
compliance in all areas of operation.

The Group offers health insurance to staff and
provides access to both in-house and external
gym facilities.

The Group HR department has programmes of
instruction and guidance on mental health and
wellbeing.

"Costs
Staff costs and raw materials remain the major
cost faced by the Group.

L :

Our HR and procurement ieams ensure the
business remains facused on managing these
costs and is supported with the necessary data to
do so.
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Strategic report {continued)

Risk ) Mitigation
Cyber Risk
The risk of cyber-attack is ever-present and has | Inthe ever-evolving world of cyber security we gsee
the potential to interrupt or hait operations, as well | a constant threat of attack and, like many
as to cause material data or financial loss. businesses, are experiencing attacks on our
network on a regular basis. We have in place a
number of overlapping protection systems and
policies that are effective and are preventing
serious harm, supplemented by insurance cover.
However, it is important we continue to evolve our
protection as rapidly as the threat evolves, We
partner with cyber security experts Quorum (a
Microsoft preferred partner) who will proactively
monitor our systems for vulnerability and assist in
making improvements where required.

People
We depend heavily on the ability fo atiract and | The Group continually monitors remuneration and
keep the best people for our business. conditions against market comparators. We offer

competitive terms and provide a range of career
and development opportunities.

Non-financial overview

BC Thomson's purpose is to grow long term value by building and investing in sustainable businesses
for our shareholders, colleagues and communities,

We are building a responsible and sustainable business for future generations in three ways:
s Minimising our impact on our pianet
» Creating an inclusive learning-led culture
+« (Championing the communities in which we live and work

People & Cuiture

DC Thomson is a community of ¢.1,300 calleagues. Our aim as an employer is to ensure that every
colleague feeis a sense of belonging, connectedness and pride to be part of cur DC Thomsan community.

We have been an accredited Living Wage employer since 2017, having chosen to apply the Real Living
Wage. Our gender pay gap continues to improve, at 11% (against a UK-wide 14.9% (Saurce: ONS)).

Salaries are supported with a benefits package designed to support financial, physical and mental
wellbeing, including a health cash plan, a new improved Employee Assistance Programme and a pension
scheme. We have also implemented a pensicn education programme to help colleagues plan for a
financially statle future.

Inclusion and wellbeing are key priorities of our people strategy, with employee networks helping to shape
how we build & more inclusive and supportive environment. Amang our inclusion initiatives we have run
a reverse mentofring programme where senior leaders were paired with colleagues from across the
business to understand and address barriers to progression in the workplace. We have also rolled out
neuro diversity training for all people leaders. We are striving to attract and retain a more diverse
workforce threugh revised talent acquisition processes including partnerships with CodeFirst Girls,
Women Returners and Career Ready. We also run an internship programme to create routes for young
people to find permanent employment at DC Thomson,
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Strategic report (continued)

Our recruitment process is fair and transparent, and we proincte equal oppoertunities. People with
disabilities have full and fair consideration for all sujtable vacancies. If an employee becomes disabled
when working for the company, every effort is made to continue their employment and retraining is
provided if required.

ltis important to us that colleagues are supported to balance home and work commitments, and we have
adupted the post-Pandemic flexible ar “hybrid” working model. We suppaort and promote sustainable
commuting, partnering with Cyclescheme with their Cycle to Work programme, and offer interest free
loans far annual passes on public transport.

To ensure we are listening to and understanding the experiences of our colleagues we now conduct
quarterly staff surveys. They help shape our people stalegy, etabling us (0 assess the effectiveness of
cultural change initiatives as well as to identify and address issues promptly. Our first quarterly survey
returned a favourable score.

We strive to create a rewarding, creative and collaborative culture at DC Thomson and have introduced
new initiativas this year, including a Lunch & Learn serfes ta spark colfaboration and idea sharing.

Environment

The continuing global energy crisis adds further impetus to our efforts to reduce energy consumption and
lower carbon emissions. Converting to renewable (green) energy sources has had a dramatic impact on
our carbon emissions: zero brown (non-renewable) electricity was consumed by the Group this year. Our
energy contracts were renewed recently and our commitment to the use of green energy continues.

The appaintment of a specialist Energy Manager has sharpened focus on these important issues and
oppartunities and is also starting to have an impact on reducing cansumption. Her insights, atong with
the formation of an Energy Management Group, are influencing how we procure energy and helping us
to evaluate alternative sources of power locally. As reported previously, however, substantial reductions
in energy consumption will be hard to achieve with aur print plant and data centres accounting for around
80% of energy used.

A multi-disciplinary sustainability working group, drawing together resource from across the business, is
improving the gquality and avaifability of data on energy, waste and carbon emissions acrass afl our
business activites, and helping 1o embed sustainabie working praclices inlo out everyday thinking,
including driving initiatives aimed at reuse and recycling.

As part of our Streamiined Enerqy & Carbon Reporting (SECR) obligations we are required to report on
our Scope 1 and 2 emissiong, which include direct emissions that cccur in the normal course of our
operations such as gas boilers, diesel generators and vehicles as well as any emissions created as a
result of the electricity we use. We are also reguired to report an intensity metric to allow comparison. We
report using two metrics — per £m turnover and per metre squared of property.

The figures are as follows’

| 2023 2022 |
Element o
Green Electricity (MWh) 16,650 16,6813
Gas (MWh) 1,286 974
miesel {MWh) 204 Fl
Total consumption (M) 18,140 17,664 |
Total emissions (tonnes CO%e) 588 494
Turnover/Revenue (Em) ) 154 , 156 |
| Metric (tCO%/Em) 3.88 3.17 |
Floor area {(mn?) 66,448 66,223
Metric (tCO%e/m?) 0.009 0.007
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improvements made to metering of censumption of electricity and gas at equipment level since year end
enable not only greater insight and control over consumption but actions to he taken to replace or upgrade
out of date machinery or servers. There will also be an increase in the amount of gas consumed reported
in our SECR report because of adoption of mare sophisticated metering. Diesel consumption increased
during the period due to the increasing use of our generaters at the Kingsway being used in production
as a consequence of grid instability arising from the higher proportion of variable generation coming from
renewable sources. Brightsolid also completed the refurbishment of one of its Cundee data halls which
improved Power Usage Efficiency (PUE), bringing it well within the UK average of 1.5 (Uptime Institute).

Community

At DC Thomson our guiding purpose is to make a positive impact on the cormmunities we serve. Our
strategy is to invest in brands that not only drive profit but that have a deeper purpose, acting as trusted
advisers, advocates and connectors for our communities.

Our news brands play a vital role in holding those in power accountable, providing a platform for
community voices and ensuring transparency in local governance.

Qur private investments business, DC Thomsaon Capital, is focused on supporting businesses with strong
sustainability and environmental credentials in sectors that are shaping our future including retail, agri-
tech, the circular economy and water. DC Thomson adds value through networks and connections in
addition to financial investment.

Both directly and through the Northwood Charitable Trust, we support charities and organisations working
to make our communities better and mere supportive places for pecple to live, work and prosper.
Colleagues have the option to take two paid volunteering days each year to support charities impertant
to them, Narthwood also offers matched funding for colleagues that take part in fundraising.

DC Thomson has its own charity Help for Kids, supporting disadvantaged children in Dundee and the
surrounding area, which works in partnership with our news brand the Dundee Evening Telegraph. We
are proud to partner with the National Leteracy Trust, supporting schools and communities to give children
the literacy skills they need to succeed in life.

DC Thomson and the Northwood Charitable Trust are major financial and active community supporters
of the V&A Dundee and the plan to bring the Eden Project to Dundge.

I 2023, our brands championed several causes impaortant to their communities. Highlights include:

« The Press and Journal's 275 Community Fund, supporting local charities

¢ The Courier successfully campaigning for a public inquiry into disgraced Tayside surgeon Sam
Eljamel

« Stylist sponsoring the 2023 Ada Lovelace Festival, celebrating the achievements of women in
science, technotogy, engineering and maths (STEM)

e Beano donating fime and resources to coliaborate with the BBC in creating classrocm resources
for children to create their own comics

¢ Launch of the SEN Mums Career Club, supporting warking women raising children with complex
or additional needs

« Findmypast partnering with the National Trust to uncover stories about its properties

» Reporters fram The Press and Journal and The Courfer recognised for their work supporting
refugees
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omson & Company Limited

Strategic report (continued}

Awards

This year DC Thomson's brands again won several industry awards, among the most notable:

The Sunday Post was named Sunday newspaper of the year and The Press and Journat was
named news website of the year, at the Scottish Press Awards.

Marion Scott won three awards for reporter of the year, scoop of the year and the Nicola Barry
Award recognising women in journalism at the same event,

Lindsay Bruce won an award from the Refugee Festival Scotland Media Awards for best local
media coverage.

Puzzler won newsstand magazine of the year and the P&J, newspaper campaign of the year, at
the National Magazine Awards.

Discovery Print was the winning printer of the year at the Newspaper Awards,

The Press and Journal's Highland League Weekly web show was crowned digitai initiative of the
year at the Regional Press Awards.

By order of the board:

Cfr(x - J;t,/"———-';'-‘-’

CHW THBmson

Director
31 Octo

ber 2023
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Directors’ report

The Directors submit the audited financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

The Directors' report to the hundred and nineteenth Annual General Meeting of DC Thornson & Company
Limited, to be held at Meadowside, Dundee on Tuesday 28 November 2023 at 12 noon,

Dividends

The Directors recommend that a final dividend of £16,270,577 (2022 - £18,650,280) be paid, which
together with the interim dividend of £5,665,384 (2022 - £5,417 265) already paid, will make a total of
£24,935,961 {2022 - £24,067,545) for the year.

Fixed assets
In the opinion of the Directors the market value, on an existing use basis, of the land and buildings which
are largely freehold, is not less than the value stated in the financial statements.

Charitable and political contributions

Ne political contributions were made. Most of the Group's substantial charitable contributions are made
by charitable trusts, the capital of which was subscribed over the years by shareholders. In addition,
charitable donations of £109,214 (2022 - £160,597) were made.,

Other
The Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) report for the year ended 31 March 2023 is
included in the Strategic Report.

Directors
The Directors in office are Messrs CHW Thomsocn, ARF Hall, DHE Thomson, BJH Gray and JS Thomsen.

In terms of the Articles of Association Mr CHW Thomsaon retires by rotation and being eligible offers
himself for re-election.

In so far as the Directors are aware’
. There is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditors are unaware; and

. The Directors have taken ail steps that they ought 1o have taken to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

Auditors
A resolution concerning the re-appaintment of Henderson Loggie LLP and for their remuneration to be
fixed by the Directors will be proposed at the Annuat General Meeting.

By order of the boarg:

_/f/,. /’ j., Ty

Tt
S Evans —

Secretary
Dundee
31 Qctober 2023
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Group income statement for the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
Continuing operations: Note £000 £000 £000
Revehue 3 161,424 160,943
Change to inventories of finished goeds and
work in progress 17 82 {115)
Raw materials and consumabies {60,634) {55,493)
{60,552) (55.608)
Employee benefits cost 5 {66,261) (62,403)
Depreciation 12 {8,893) (8,570)
Amortisation 11 (3.441) (3,424)
impairment of goodwill and other intangible
assels 11 {8,568) (1,410)
Impairment of tangible assets 12 {59) -
Other expenses 4 (24,7703 (20,640)
Finance costs 7 (433} {406)
Total expenses {112,425) {96,853)
Other income 904 858
Gain from disposal of financial assets 1,262 2148
Valuation {losses)/gains on financial assets 13 (151,136} (36,042)
Net (loss)/gain from financial assels {149,874) (33,896)
Gam from disposal of asscciate - 32,756
Share of post-tax results of associates 15 (834) (132)
Impaimment of associates 15 (128) (700)
(962) 31,824
{Loss)Iprofit before taxation {161,485) 7,168
Taxation 8 41,507 (34,220)
(Loss)/profit for financial year from continuing operations {119,978) (27.052)
Discontinued operations:
{Loss)fprofit for the year from discontinued
operations 9 {2,554) 1,209
{Loss)profit for the year (122,532) (25,843)
(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent {122,629} (25,785)
Non-cantrotling (minarity} interest 16 97 (58}
{122,532} (25,843)

14 Registered number SC005830



DC Thomson & Company Limited

Group statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
Retained Retained
earnings earnings
Note £600 £000
{Loss)/profit for financial year {122,532) (25,843)
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations (1,037} {1,083)
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension scheme 22 57,700 47,600
Deferred tax arising on above 21 (14,425} (27.421)
Elimination of non controlling interest - {697)
Other comprehensive {expenditure)/income for the
year net of tax 42,238 18,299
Total comprehensive (expenditure)lincome for
the year (80,294) (7.544)
Total comprehensive (expenditure)lincome attributable to:
Shareholders of parent (80,391) (7,486)
Non-controlting {minarity) interest 97 {58)
(80,284) {7.544)
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Company statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022

Retained Retained

earhings earnings

Note £000 £00D

(Loss)/profit for financial year (132,938} (38,001}

Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension scheme 22 57,700 47,500

Deferred tax arising on above 21 {14,425) {27 421)
Other comprehensive {expenditure)fincome far the year

net of tax 43,275 20,079

Total comprehensive (expenditure)/income for the
year {89,663) {17,922}
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Group balance sheet at 31 March 2023

2023 2022
Note £000 £000

Non-current assets
Goodwill 11 55,946 64,514
Other intangible assets 11 153,284 155,494
Property, plant and equipment 12 67,512 72,538
Financial assets — other business assels 13 693,657 869,313
Interests in associates 15 801 1,763
Retirement benefit surplus 22 363,900 306,600

1,335,100 1,470,222

Current assets
Inventories 17 3,185 3,448
Trade and other receivables 18 25,543 23,342
Income tax assels 1,373 1,077
Cash and cash equivalents 23 55,001 50,833
Assets direclly associated with a disposal group classified as held for
sale ] 1,262 586
86,334 79,286
Total assets 1,421,434 1,549,508
Current liahilities
Trade and other payables 19 38,075 34,693
Liabilities directly associated with a disposal group classified as held
for sale 9 2,725 1,342
40,800 36,035
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 8,503 8,627
Deferred tax liabilities 21 218,679 246,007
Liabilities directly associated with a disposal group classified as held
for sale 9 - 1,126
227,182 255,660
Total liabilities 267,982 291,695
Net assets 1,153,452 1,257,813
Equity (Page 21}
Share capital 4135 4,135
Other reserves 151,865 151,865
Retained earnings and foreign currency translation reserve 997,423 1,101,881
Shareholders’ equity 1,153,423 1,257 881
Non-controlling {minority) interest 16 29 (68)
Total equity 1,153,452 1,257 813

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 October
2023 and signed on its behalf by:

CHW Thomson DHE Thomson
Director - Director 4,{‘3
f:%(\ . /<§:. N L 17 Registered number SCO05830



DC Thomson & Company Limited

Company halance sheet at 31 March 2023

2023 2022
Note £000 £000

Non-current assets
Other intangible assets 11 - 75
Property, plant and equipment 12 48,103 54,454
Financial assets — other business assets 13 683,657 868,313
Interests in group undertakings 14 161,546 167,602
Retirement benefit surpius 22 363,900 308,600

1,257,206 1,398,044

Current assets

Inventories 17 3,035 3,169
Trade and other receivables 18 13,455 16,765
Income tax assets 1,982 1,164
Cash and cash equivalents 23 48,658 42,095
67,130 57 224
Total assets 1,324,336 1,455,268
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 46,658 38,634
46,658 36,834

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 2,062 1,508
Deferred tax Habilities 21 183,886 211,578

185,948 213,174
Total liabilities 232,608 249 808
Net assets 1,091,730 1,205,460

Equity {Page 22)

Share capital 4,135 4,135
Other reserves 1,865 1,865
Retained earnings 1,085,730 1,199,460
Total equity 1,091,730 1,205,460

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31
QOctober 2023 and signed on its behaif by:

CHW Thomson DHE Thomson
Director Director ~\ ¢
Oy
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Group cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
Note £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
{Loss)profit befare taxation:
Continuing {161,485) 7,168
Discontinued 9 (3,200) 1,078
Depreciation and amonrtisation 9/1112 12,814 12,453
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assels i1 8,568 1,410
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 9ri2 654 -
Valuation losses/{gains) on financial assets 13 151,136 36,042
Share of result of associates 15 834 132
Impairment of associates 15 128 700
{Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment {1,101) {(1.719)
Gain an disposal of financial assets (1,262) (2.146)
Gain on disposal of associate - {(32,756)
Pensicn adjustment 22 400 3,700
Loan interest conversion 13/15 - {534)
Decrease/{increase) in inventories 162 (854)
{Increase)/decrease in receivahles (2,462) {567}
Increase/(decrease) in payables 5,059 {4,038}
Exchange movement {1,087) {1,125}
Cash generated from operations 9,158 18,844
lncome tax (paid)ireceived {92) (211)
Net cash generated from operating activities 9,066 18,633
Investing activities
Proceeds on dispesal of property, plant and equipment . 5,100 1.838
Proceers on disposal of financial assets =31;880" 20,871
Proceeds on disposal of associates : - 34,673
Purchase ¢f intangible assets 11 {1,870) (2,659)
Purchase of property, plant and eguipment 12 {7,688) (4,602)
Purchase of financial assets 13 {6,098) (88,991}
Investment in associates 15 - {300}
Investment in minority interest - (331)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 21,324 {40,501)
Financing activities
Dividends paid 10 {24,067) {22.176)
Repayment of lease obligations 19 (2,137} {2,660)
New loan borrowings - 875
Repayment of loan borrowings (18) (48)
Net cash used in financing activities (26,222) (24,009)
Net increasel/{decrease) in cash and cash eguivalents 4,168 (45,877)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2022 23 50,833 96,710
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2023 23 55,001 50,833
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Company cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2023

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss)/profit before {axation

Depreciation and amortisation

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of interests in group undertakings
Valuation lossesf{gains} on other business assets
{Gain)/loss on disposal of property, piant and eguipment
Gain on disposal of financiaf assets

Gain on disposal of associate

Pension adjustment

Loan interest conversion

Decrease/(increase) in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
Increasel(decrease) in payables

Exchange movement

Cash generated from operations
Income tax {paid)/received

Net cash generated from operating activities

Investing activities

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on disposai of financial assets

Proceeds on disposai of associate

Repayment from group companies

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of financial assets

investment in subsidiary undertakings

Investment in associates

Net cash generated from/(used in) from investing activities

Financing activities
Bividends paid
Repayment of lease obtigations

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increasef(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2022

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2023

20

Note

11412

14
13

22
13/14

10
19

23

23

2023 2022
£000 £000
(174,747) (13,408}
3,908 3,798
59 .
21,052 3,800
151,136 36,042
(1,105) (1,198)
{1,262) (2.148)
. (20.871)
400 3,700

- (534)

165 (1,023}
(2,689) 10,677
10,842 (4,311
8 -
7,767 14,525
{1,124) (3,077}
6,643 11,448
5,095 413
31,880 20,871
- 34,673
95 4,879
(1,262) (758)
(6,098) (89,991)
(5,091) (2,865)

- (300)
24,619 (33,078)
{24,067) {22,176)
(633) (1.074)
(24,700) (23,250)
6,562 (44,880}
42,096 86,976
48,658 42,066
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Group statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2023

Share Other Retained Minority Total
capital reserves earnings Total  interest equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 31 March 2021 4,135 151,865 1,131,543 1,287,543 (378) 1,287 167
Loss for financial year - - (25,785) (25,785) {58) {25,843)
Other comprehensive
income/{expenditure) - - 18,299 18,299 - 18,299
Investment in non controlling
interest - - - - (331) {331)
Elimination of non controlling
inferest - - - - 897 697
Total comprehensive
incomel{expenditure) - - (7,486) (7,486} 308 (7.178)
Recognised directly in equity:
Dividends - - (22,176} {22,176} - (22,176)
Total movements - - (29,662} {29,662) 308 (29,354)
Balance at 31 March 2022 4,135 151,865 1,101,881 1,257 881 (68) 1,257 813
Loss for financial year - - {122,629) (122,629) 97 {122,532)
Other comprehensive
income/(expendiiure) - - 42,238 42,238 - 42,238
Total comprehensive
incomel/{expenditure} - - (80,381) (80,381) a7 (80,284)
Recognised direclly in equity:
Dividends - - (24,067) (24,067) - (24.067)
Total movements - - {104,458) (104,458} g7 (104,351}
Balance at 31 March 2023 4,135 151,885 987,423 1,153,423 29 1,153,452

Authorised and called up share capital represents 4,135,317 {2022 — 4,135,317) fully paid ordinary shares of
£1 each.

Other reserves include a capital redemption reserve of £1,865,000 (2022 - £1,865,000) created on the
purchase by the Company of its own shares and distributable reserves being a pension reserve of
£50,000,000 (2022 - £50,000,000) and a capital expenditure reserve of £100,000,000 (2022 - £100,000,000).

included in retained earnings is £272,875,000 {2022 - £223,950,000) which represents the unrealised
appreciation on the retirement benefit surplus, net of tax, which is not distributable.

Retained earnings include net exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations since 1 April
2005 as follows:

£000
At 1 April 2021 ‘ 16,346
Arising in year (1,083)
At 31 March 2022 14,263
Arising in year (1,037)
At 31 March 2023 13,226
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Company statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2023

Share Other Retained
capital reserves earnings Total
£000 £000 £0600 £000
Bafance at 31 March 2021 4,135 1,865 1,239,558 1,245 558
Loss for financial year - - (38,001) (38,001}
Other comprehensive income/({expenditure) - - 20,079 20,079
Total comprehensive incomef{expenditure) - - (17,822} (17,922)
Transactions with owners of the company
recegnised directly in equity
Dividends - - (22,176) {22,176)
Total movements - - (40,098} (40,088)
Balance at 31 March 2022 4,135 1,865 1,199,460 1,205,460
Profit for financial year - - (132,938) (132,938)
Other comprehensive income/(expenditure) - - 43275 43275
Total comprehensive incomel/{expenditure) - - {89,663) {89,663)
Transactions with owners of the company
recognised directly in equity
Dividends - - (24,067) {24,067)
Total movements - - {(113,730) (113,730)
Balance at 31 March 2023 4,135 1,865 1,885,730 1,091,730

Autharised and called up share capital represents 4,135,317 (2022 -- 4,135,317} fully paid ordinary shares of
£1 each.

Other reserves represent a capital redemption reserve of £1,865,000 (2022 - £1,865,000) created on the
putchase by the Company of its own shares.

included in retained earnings is £272,975,000 (2022 — £229,950,000) which represents the unrealised
appreciation on the retirement benefit surplus, net of tax, which is not distributable.
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

MNotes to the financial statements

1 Statement of compliance
Both the Group and Parent Company financial statements (“financial statements™) at 31 March

2023 have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the UK.

2 Accounting policies

Adoption of new and revised Standards

In the current year, the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been
issued and are effective for the current financial period.

New standards

There are no new standards which tock effect in the current financial year.

Other revised interpretations, amendments and annual improvements to IFRSs

in the current year, the Group has applied a number of other revised Interpretations,
Amendments and Annuai Improvements to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting pericd that begins on or
after 1 January 2022 or for an accounting period that begins an or after 1 April 2022.

Amendments:
Reference to the
Conceptual Framework
(Amendments to IFRS
3)

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use
{Amendments to 1AS 16)

Onercus Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract (Amendments
to |1AS 37)

The amendments update an outdated reference to the Conceptual
Framework in IFRS 3 without significantly changing the
requirements in the standard. Annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022,

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of
praperty, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and cengition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Instead, an entity recognises the procceeds from
selling such items, and the cost of producing those items, in profit
or loss. Annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

The amendments spacify that the ‘cost of fulfiling' a contract
comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs that
relate directly to a contract can either be incremental costs of
fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour, materials)
or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilhng
contracts (an example would be the allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling
the cantract). Annual reporting pericds beginning on or after 1
January 2022.
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued}

Annual Improvements o Makes amendments to the following standards:

IFRS Standards 2018 — + [FRS 1 - The amendment permits a subsidiary that applies

2020 paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1 to measure cumulative
translation differences using the amounts reported by its
parent, hased on the parent's date of transition to IFRSs.

» [FRS 9 — The amendment ciarifies which fees an entity
includes when it applies the "10 per cent' test in paragraph
B3.3.6 of IFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise a
financial lability. An entity includes only fees paid or
received between the entity (the borrower) and the {ender,
including fees paid or received by either the entity or the
iender on the other's behalf.

+ |FRS 18 — The amendment 10 Nustrative Example 13
accompanying IFRS 16 removes from the example the
illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold
improvements by the lessor in order to resolve any
potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives that might arise because of how fease incentives
are illustrated in that example,

= [AS 41 - The amenament removes the requirement in
paragraph 22 of IAS 41 for entities to exclude taxation cash
fiows when measuring the fair value of a biolcgical asset
using a present value technique.

Annual reporiing periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

The adoption of these amendments has had no impact on the Group’s accounting policies.
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)
Company information

DC Thomson & Company Limited (“the Company™) is a private limited company domiciled and
incorporated in Scotland, The registered office is Courier Buildings, 2 Albert Square, Dundee,
DD 804,

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the Group.
Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded fo the nearest £000.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financiat
assets, including financial instruments and the assets of the defined benefit pension scheme,
which are stated at their fair values.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the directors to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, incame and expense. The estimates and judgements are
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements about carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actuzl results
may differ from these estimates. The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise
stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements incorporate the results, cash flows and financial position of the
Company and its suhsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The financial statements of its subsidiaries are prepared to the same reporting date using
accounting policies consistent with thase of the Parent Company. Intra-group transactions and
balances, inciuding any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated in full.

tn accerdance with Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, a separate profit and ioss account of
DC Thomson & Company Limited is not presented.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the
power, directly or indirectly (but normaily through voting rights granted through the Company's
shareholdings), to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity to obtain benefits from
its activities. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated finzncial
statements.

Associates

Associates are entities in which the Greup has significant influence, but not control, over the
financial and aperating policies. The consolidated financial statements include the Group's share
of the total recognised gains and losses of its associates on an equity accounted basis, from the
date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases.

Adjustments are made te align the accounting policies of the associates with the Group and to

eliminate the Group’s share of unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group
and its associates.
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Notes to the financial statements {continued)

2 Accounting policies {continued)
Acquisitions

On acquisition, the assets and liahilities of a subsidiary, including identifiable intangible assets,
are measured at their fair value at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is
reviewed for impairment annually and any impairment is recognised immediately in the income
statement. Any excess of fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired over the cost of
acquisition is credited fo the income statement on acquisition.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for
impairment annually.

Impairment is determined by camparing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units ("CGU") which are expected to benefit from the acquisition in
which the goodwill arose, to the carrying value of the goodwill. The recoverable amount is the
greater of an asset's value in use and its fair value less costs to selt. Value in use is calculated
by discounting the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset or group of assets in a
CGU at the Group's cost of capital. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying
valug, the goodwill is considered to be impaired and is written down through the income
statement {o its recoverable amgunt.

Other intangible assets acquired as part of a business acquisition are capitalised at fair value at
the date of acquisition. Purchased intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised af cost.
After initial recognition, all intangible fixed assets are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and &ny accumulated impairment logses.

Where an intangible asset has been assigned an indefinite useful life, it is not amortised and is
reviewed for impairment either annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a possible decline in the carrying value.

Intangible assets which have hean assigned a finite life are amortised on a straight-line basis

over the assets’ useful life from when they are brought in to productive use. These assets are

also tested for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value

may have declined. This is done on a similar basis to the testing of goodwill, either for the

individual assets or at the tevel of a CGU. Useful lives are examined every year and adjustments

are made, where applicable, on a prospective basis. !

The principal rates employed are;

Dataset development 10 years straight line
Publishing nghts 10 - 20 years straight line
Software and app development 3 - 4 years straight line

Costs of developing fiim productions up to compietion and delivery are capitalised and amartised
in line with income recagnised in the period, taking into account total estimated future income.
Where estimates of future incame are subsequently revised, resuiting in a reduction in the fair
value of the asset, appropriate provision is made to write down the carrying value of the asset.

Where non-confrolling interests in subsidiary undertakings are acquired, the Economic Entity
Model under IFRS 3 is applied with goodwill arising being charged through equity.
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DC Thomson & Company Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued}
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost, net of depreciaticn and any provision for

impairment. Depreciaticn is provided on all property, plant and equipment at varying rates
calculated to write off cost less residual value over the useful lives. The principal rates employed

are.
Freehold property {excluding land) 2% reducing balance
Printing presses 10 to 15 years straight line
Plant and machinery 4 10 12 years straight tine

Right-cf-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the useful life of the
undgerlying assel.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in circumstances indicate these values may not be recoverable. If there is an
indication that impairment does exist, the carrying values are compared to the estimated
recoverable amounts of the assets concerned. The recoverable amount is the greater of an
assel’s value in use and its fair value less the cost of selling it. Value in use is calculated by
discounting the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Where the carrying
vaiue of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written
down through the income statement to its recoverabte amount.

An item of property, plant and eguipment is written off either on disposal or when there is no
expected future economic benefit from its continued use. Any gain or loss (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal preceeds and the carrying value of the asset) is included in
the income statement in the year.

Financial assets
Othar business assets

Other business assets represent equity, preference shares and loans in other entities and are
recognised when contractually committed. When a contract o sell is in place, the relevant asset
is no longer recognised.

Listed investments are shown as held for trading, initially recorded at cost in the period of
acquisition and subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses on the revaluation of held
for trading investments are recognised in the income statement. On disposal or impairment of the
investment, alt relevant gains and losses are included in the income statement. Fair value is
arrived at ustng publicly quoted bid price market values for the majority of investments. When an
investment's carrying value is impaired and the directors do not expect the value to recover, an
impairment charge is recognised immediately through the income statement.

Where there is no publicly quoted market value, other investments, including subsidiaries, are
shown at cost less pravisions for impairment.
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Interests in group companies

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company continues to measure investments in subsidiaries
at cost.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
methed in the Group financial statements and the cost methed in the Company financial
statements. Therefore, the Group financial statements inciude the Group's share of the profit and
net agsets of associated undertakings.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents
amounis receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
sales related taxes and discounts and is recognised at the point in time when the relevant
parformance obligation is satisfied.

Where revenue coniracts have muitiple elements, all aspects of the transaction are considerad fo
determine whether these elements can be separately identified. Where transaction elements can
be separately identified and revenue can be aflocated between them an a fair and refiabie basis,
revenue for each element is accounted for according 10 the relevant policy below. Where
transaction elements cannot be separately identified, revenue is recognised over the contract
period.

The Group recognises revenug from the following major sources:

« Circulation revenue is recognised on dale of the publication tess provisions for levels of
expected returns;

» Subscription revenus is recognised over the period of the subscription or contract;

» Advertising revenue is recognised on the date of publication or the period of the
campaign;

+ Consumer products revenue is recognised at point of sale less provisions for leveis of
expected returns;

= Coniract printing revenué is recognised whel (e seivice is provided,

» ticensing, syndication and merchandising revenue is recognised when the service is
provided;

+ Revenue from genealogy is recognised either when customers obtain a view of the
requested data, when the revenue is pay-per-view, or in the case of unlimited access
subscriptions evenly aver the period of the subscription,

s Cloud services revenue is recognised over the peried of the contract; and

« Investment income is recognised when earned.

Foreign currencies

The resulis and financial position of the Group are expressed in pounds sterling, its functional
currency. In preparing the financial statements of individual companies, fransactions in
currencies other than pounds sterling are recorded at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denaminated in foreign currencies at the balance
sheet date are translated o sterling at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Exchange
differences arising on translation are recognised in the consclidated income statement for the
pariod,

Non-manetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencias that are stated at fair value
are transiated at the rates prevailing at the dates when the fair value was determined. Non-
maonetary assets and liabiliies that are measureg at histarical cost in a foreign currency (e.g.
properly, plant and equipment purchased in a foreign currency) are translated using the
exchange rate prevailing al the date of the transaction. Exchange differences arising on the
transtation of net assets are effected through the statement of comprehensive income.
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For the purpose of presenting consclidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the halance sheet date.
Inceme and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period and
recognised in the income statement. Exchange differences arising cn forward rate adjustments,
if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the reserves.

Goodwill and fair value adjusiments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and transiated at the clasing rate.

Where a foreign currency loan forms part of the net investment in a foreign subsidiary, on
consolidation the exchange differences are recognised directly in equity.

Leases

At inceptior: of the contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. It
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee. The nght-of-use assets and the lease habilities are
presented as separate line items in the statement of financial position.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cahnot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. [t is subsequently
measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability {using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The right-cf-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the carresponding lease liability, plus
lease payments made on or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received
and plus any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Impairment is assessed as described above.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s batance sheet when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of that instrument.

The Group does not use financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Foreign currency exchange contracts are initially recognised at cost and are subsequently re-
measured to fair vaiue at each balance sheet date. Changes in the fair value of financial
instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement as
they arise. These valuations are provided by the issuing financial institution.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by
appropriate allowance for impairments. The company recognises lifetime ECL (expected credit
losses) for trade receivables, which are estimated by reference to past default experience of the
debtor and an analysis of the debtor’'s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of bath the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including the time value of
money where appropriate.

The company writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in

severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written
off are still subject to enfarcement activities. Any recoveries made are recagnised in profit or loss.
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Trade and other payables
Trade payables are non interesi-bearing and are stated at their nominal value.
Borrowings

Interest-bearing leans and bank overdrafts are intially recorded at the fair value of proceads
received and are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Finance charges, including premia
payable on settiernent or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals
basis in the income statement using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying
amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the periad in which they arise.

Financial guarantee contracts

The Company treats guarantee contracts as a cantingent liabifity until such time as it becomes
probable that the Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the income tax and deferred tax charge for the year.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the vear. The Grouyp's liability for current
tax is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is measured on differences between the carrying amounis of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases, as used in the computation of taxable
profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temperary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises fram goodwill or from the initial recognition
{other than in a business combination) of financial agsets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable orofit nor the accounting profit,

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
ltability is settled, or the asset is realised, Deferred tax 18 charged or credited in the income
statement, except when it relates o items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and labilities are offset when the relevant requirements of 1AS 12 are
satisfied.

Inventories

inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, In determining the cost of
raw materials, consumables and goods for resale, the average purchase price is used. For work
in progress and finished goods, cost is taken as production cost which includes an appropriate
proportion of overheads.

Inventories are assessed for indicators of impairment at each year end and where a provision is
required the income statement is charged directly

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand are basic financial assets and include cash in hand, deposits held at

call with banks, other short-term liquid investments with original maturities of three months or
less, and bank overdrafts. Bank gverdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.
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Retirement benefit costs

The Group cperates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes covering the
majority of employees.

Payments to defined contribution schemes are charged to the income statement as an expense
as they fall due.

For defined benefit retivement benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is determined by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method by discounting the estimated future
cash flows using interest rates on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates
approximating to the terms of the Group's and the Company’s obligations. Actuarial gains and
losses are recognised in full in the pericd in which they occur. Such gains and losses are
recognised outside the income statement ang are presentad in the statement of comprehensive
incorne. Past service cost is recognised immediately, to the extent that the benefits are aiready
vested or are amortised on a straight-line basis over the average period untif the benefits become
vested.

The retirement benefit surplus recognised in the balance sheet represents the fair value of scheme
assets as reduced by the present vaiue of the defined benefit obligation as adjusted for
unrecognised past service cest. The surplus is limited to past service cost, plus the present value
of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the scheme.

Dividends payable

Dividends payable to the Company's shareholders are recorded in the period in which the
dividends are approved.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the aoperations and cash flows
of which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate
major line of business or geographical area of operations, or is a single coordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of cperations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. Comparative figures in the income statement
are re-presented to show separately the results of the discontinued operation in that period.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present iegal or constructive obligation arising
as aresult of a past event, it is probable that an outfiow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Provisions are measured at the present
vaiue of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessrnents of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest
expense.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised at the fair value of the asset received or receivable when

there is reasonable assurance that the grant conditions will be met and the grants will be
received.
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A grant that specifies performance conditions is recognised in income when the performance
conditions are met. Where a grant does not specify performance conditions it is recognised in
income when the proceeds are received or receivable. A grant received before the recognition
criteria are satisfied is recognised as a liability.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, the directors have made the following
judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements (apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

Valuation of intangible assets on acquisition

The Group's policies require that a fair value at the date of acquisition be attributed to the
intangible assets cwned by the acquired businesses. The directors use their judgement to
identify the separate intangible assets and then determine a fair value for each based upon the
consideration paid, the nature of the asset, industry statistics, future potential and other relevant
factors. The useful lives and carrying values are reviewed for impairment annually.

Deferred tax balances on intangible assets

Deferred tax has been provided under 1AS 12 (Income Taxes) on the values of the intangible
assets in the Group's balance sheet. The directors have provided this balance in order to comply
with the technical requirements of IAS 12 despite the fact that they cannot foresee any
circumstances in which such a tax liability would arise.

There is no intention at the present time to dispose of any of the assets concerned but even if
such a decision was 10 be taken at some future date, it is unfikely that the assets would be sold
separately from the legal entities. Accordingly, this tax provision should never be required to be
paid.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the halance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustmant to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment

Determining whether any non-current asset has been impaired requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash generating units to which these assets are allocated. The value in use
caloulation requires the Group to identify appropriate cash generating units, to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from each cash generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate present vajue. Impairment exercises on tangible fixed assets, goodwill and indefinite
life intangible assets have been undertaken in the year as descriped in the relevant notes.

Useful lives

The Group uses forecast cash flow information and estimates of future growth to assess whether
goodwili and other intangible fixed assets are impaired, and to determine the usefu) economic
lives of its goodwill and intangible assets  if the results of aperations in a future period are
adverse to the estimates used a reduction in useful ecanomic life may be required.

Retirement benefit asset

The financial statements recognise an asset which reflects the surplus within one of the Group’s
pension schemes, restricted 1o the amount expected to be recovered through refunds or
reductions in future contributions in ling with [AS 19
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The movement in this asset is determined with advice from actuarial agdvisers and affects both
the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income.

The calcutations undertaken by the actuary apply a number of critical assumptions which can
materially impact the reported asset and the amount recognised in the income statement from
year to year. The principat factors are disclosed in Note 22.

Provision for returns

Provision is made in the Magazine businesses based on estimates of the expected level of
returns and exposure to distributors.

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not apglied the following
new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective and, in some cases, have
not yet adopted by the UK:

New or revised standards:

Amendments to IFRS 17 IFRS 17 requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current

Insurance Contracts fulfillment value and provides a mare uniform measurement and
presentation approach for all insurance contracts. These
requirements are designed to achieve the goal of a consistent,
principle-based accounting for insurance conwacts. IFRS 17
supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts as of 1 January 2023
Applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

Endorsed for use in the UK, aibeit with an optionai exemption from
applying the annual cohort requirement.

Amendments:
Classification of The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the
Liabilities as Current or  requirements by heiping companies determine whether, in the
Non-Current — statement of financial position, debt and ather liabilities with an
Amendments to 1AS 1 uncertain settlement date should be classified as current (due or
potentially due to be settled within one year) or non-current,
Applicable ta annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024,
Not yet endorsed for use in the UK.
Extension of the The amendment changes the fixed expiry date for the temporary
Temporary Exemption exemption in IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts from applying IFRS 9
from Applying IFRS 9 —  Financial Instruments, so that entities would be required to apply
Amendments to IFRS 4 IFRS 9 for annual reporting periads beginning an or after 1 January

2023.

Not yet endorsed for use in the UK.
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Disclosure of
Accounting Policies —~
Amendments to |AS 1
and IFRS Practice
Statemeni 2

Dafinition of Accounting
Estimates —~
Amendments to IAS 8

Deferred Tax related to
Agsets and Lizbllities
arising from a Single
Transaction —~

Amendments to JAS 12

Lease Liability in 2 Sale
and Leaseback -
Amendments to iIFRS 16

The amendments require that an entity discloses its materiai
accounting policies, instead of its significant accounting policies.
Further amendments explain how an entity can identify a material
accounting policy. Examples of when an accounting palicy is likely
to be material are added. To support the amendment, the Board
has also developed guidance and examples to explain and
demonstrate the application of the ‘four-step materiality process’
described in IFRS Practice Statement 2.

Applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

Endorsed for use in the UK, however, as practice statements are
not endorsed for application in the UK, the amendments to IFRS
Practice Statement 2 have not been endorsed.

The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting

astimates with a defimition of accounting estimates, Under the new

definition, accounting estimates are "monetary amounts in financial

statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. Entities

develop accounting estimates if accounting policies require items in

financial statements to be measured in a way tha involves

measurement uncertainty. The amendments clarify that a change in

accourting estimate that results from new information or new

developments is not the correction of an error. |

Applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023,

Not yet endorsed for use in the UK.

The amendments clarify that the initial recognition exemption does
not apply to trangactions in which equal amournts of deductible and

Loalllibie =

taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition.

Applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

Not yet endorsed for use in the UK.
The amendment clarifies how a seller-lessee subsequently
measures sale and leaseback transactions that satisfy the

reguirements in IFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale.

Applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024,

Not yet endorsed for use in the UK,
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Non-gurrent Liabilities The amendment clarifies how conditions with which an entity must
with Covenants — comply within twelve montks after the reporting period affect the
Amendments to JAS 1 classification of a liability,

Applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024,

Not yet endorsed for use in the UK.

These amendments and revised interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on
the Group’s results.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of the other new standards, amendments and

interpretations on its results and it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect
until this assessment has been completed.
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2023 2022

Contintuing Discontinued Tota! Continuing Discontinued Tatal
€000 £00d £a06 £600 £000 £660C
Trading revenus 143,112 10,769 183,881 143,177 13,206 156,383

Other income:
Dividends 17,659 - 17,659 17,024 - 17,034
interest 653 - 653 732 - 732
161,424 40,769 172,193 160,943 13,206 174,149

The Group trading revenue comprises sales excluding value added tax, less discounts and comimission where applicable and is analysed as follows

Cirgulation
Print 55,402 5,529 60,931 57,248 7,298 54,547
Subscriptions 11,977 . 11,977 11,934 - 11,834
Annuals 1,738 - $,738 1,691 - 1,691
Digital subs 3,246 - 3,246 2,202 - 2,202
Advertising
Print 10,641 2,981 13,622 11,418 3,435 14,853
Digital 4,728 - 4,728 5072 - 5,073
Other
Transdctions 2,768 103 2,818 4,585 43 4,408
Evenls 3,130 320 3.450 2,653 401 2,954
Marketing services 4,418 - 4,418 3,071 - 3,071
Conlract print 2,936 - 2,936 3.018 - 3.018
Geneslogy 25,086 - 25,086 25,244 - 25,244
Cloud services 9,059 - 9,069 8,881 - 3881
Other 4,126 1,836 5862 4,136 2,028 5,164
B2B 3,917 - 3,917 2,343 - 2,343
143,112 10,769 153,881 143,177 13,206 156,383
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Revenue

Analysis of trading revenue by destination market

United Kingdom
Rest of Europe
North America
Australasia
Rest of Word

Income statement

Total expenses are stated after charging/(crediting):

Auditor's remuneration to audit group financial
statements
Auditer's remuneration for other services:
Audit of subsidiaries
Other services

{Gain)fnss on sale of fixed tangible assets

2023
Continuing Discontinued Total Cantinuing
£000 £000 000 £000
127,641 10,695 138,316 128,475
1,21 . 1,231 1.959
3,367 54 3,424 3.709
6,537 20 6,557 4,962
4,336 - 4,336 4072
143,112 10,769 153,881 143,177
2023
Cantinuing Discontinued Tatal Canlinuing
£000 £0a0 £000 £U00
137 - 137 112
196 21 211 142
69 - 69 50
{1,101} . {1,101} (1.719)

2022
Discontinued Total
£000 £000
13,132 141,607
- 1,959
63 3,772
11 4,973
- 4,072
13.206 156,383
2022
Discontinued Total
£000 £000
- 112
46 188
18 78
- {1,718}

The auditor's remuneration for other services was in connection with generat consultancy £43,000 (2022 - £30,000) and taxation services £26,000 (2022

-£48,000).
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Employee benefits costs

2023 2022
Continuing Discantinued Toral Cantinuing Disconlinued Total
Number Number Nuitsbar Number Number Number
Average imonthly number of employees during the year:
Group 167 1,603 1416 180 1,586
Company 759 - 758 742 - 742
2023 2022
Centinuing Discontinued Total Conlinuing Discontinued Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £.000 £000
Employee costs expensed during the year {including
directors remuneration) amounted 1o
Wages and salaries 54,637 §,299 59,936 51,594 5156 58,750
Social security costs 6,286 505 6.791 4,951 454 5,408
Lefined contribution pension costs 24 - 24 36 - 36
60,947 5,804 66,751 b6, 581 5610 62,191
Deflned benefil pensian charge (Note 22} 400 - 400 3.700 - 3,700
Severancs payments 4,014 1,588 §,802 2,122 31 2,182
payments 4,91 , , 2,182
7,392 73,653 62,403 5641 68,044

In additicn to the empioyee benelils costs expensed in the income statement, £3,532.000 (20622 - £3,442,000) of employee benelits cost has been
capitalised in Other intangible assets (note 11) and Plant and equipment {note 12).

The pensian charge is a non-cash adjustment ansing from the accounting treatment of final salary pension schemes unaer fAS 19 (Note 22).
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£000 £000

Remuneration ,595 1,296

The emoluments receivable by the highest paid member of key management were £458,000
(2022 - £398,000).
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2023 2022
Continuing Discontinued Total Caontinuing Discantinued Tolal
£00o £000 £000 £000 EDOD
Interest payable 74 - 74 14 - 14
Lease interest charge 358 39 398 392 79 471
433 35 472 406 78 485
8 Taxatian
2623 2022
Continving Discontinuad Total Continuing Discontinued Tolal
£000 £000 £000 £00G £000 £000
Current taxation
UK corporation tax on profits for the year 38 (331) (893} 1,320 {(34) 1,286
Overseas tax 84 - 84 134 1 138
Adjustments in respect of prior pericds
- UK 123 25 148 38 {22) 16
245 (506} (661} 1.482 (54} 1,437
Deferred taxation
Driginalion ang reversal of timing differences (41,848) 259 (41,590) 7,830) (14) {7,844)
Adiustment i respect ot priac periods EL 2 96 (69) - (6Y)
Change in tax rate 2 - 2 40627 (62) 40,565
Taxation chargelleredit) (41,507) (646) (42,153) 34,220 (131) 34,089
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2023 2022
Continuing Discontinued Total Continuing Discantinued Tolal
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Factors affecting tax charge for year
Profit(foss) for year before tax {161,485) {3,200} {164, 685) 7.168 1,078 8,246
Tax thereon at 19% (2022 - 19%) {30,682) {608} {31,290) 1,361 205 1,566
Effects of
Franked investment mcome nol attracting tax {2,734) - {2,734) (2,619} - (2,619)
Book gain compared with capital gain 1,546 - 1,648 (5,792) - (5.792)
Other timing differences - - - 3 - 3
Overseas profits tax impact 243 (402) (159) 35 - 35
Associate undertaking effect 158 - 158 25 - 25
Other items affecting tax charge {1,847) 139 {1,708) 281 (70} 211
Change in tax rate (10,065} as (9,980) 40.627 (62} 40,565
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 217 27 244 (31) (22) (53)
Losses available {o carry forward/utilised} - - - (42) {1821 {224)
Television production and R&D tay rradit {G) . [{1] (11) - 1
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 1,628 113 1,741 250 - 250
Impairment of associates 24 - 24 133 - 133
impairment of property, plant and equipment 1 - 11 - - -

Taxation chargel/{credit)

The Finance (No.2) Act 2015 reduced the main rate of UK corporaton tax to 19% and this was effective from 1 April 2017. A further reduction in the UK
corporalion tax rate 1o 17% was expected to come into effect fram 1 April 202¢ {as enacted by the Finance Act 2016 an 15 September 2018), However,
legislation introduced in the Finance Act 2020 {enacted on 22 July 2020) repeaied the reduction of corparation 1ax, maintaining the current rate of 19%.

On 3 March 2022, the UK Budget 2022 announcements included measures to support economic recovery as a resull of the COVID-19 pandemic. These
included an increase to the UK's main corporation tax rate to 25%, which became effective from 1 Aprit 2023, The 25% rate was granted Royal Assent on
10 June 2022 and $0 was substantively enacted al the balance sheet date. As a resull the closing deferred tax balances as at 31 March 2023 are
recognesed at 25% (2022 - 25%).
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On 31 March 2023, the Group sold the trade and assets of the Aceville Publications Limited
subgroup for a consideration of £1 and the remaining activities are subject to a controlted wind
down.

tn June 2020, the Group made the decision to close the Wild & Wolf Limited subgroup, part of
the Group's Consumer Products Division which continues o be subject to a controlled wind
down of activities.

The operations of these subgroups have been classified as a disposal group held for sale and
have been presented separately in the balance sheet. Comparative figures in the income
statement also include both subgroups as discontinued operations.

The resulis of the discontinued operations, which have been included in the Group income
statement, were as follows:

2023 2022
Note £000 £000 £000
Revenue 3 10,769 13,206
Change o inventories of finished goods
and work in progress - -
Raw materials and consumables {6,430) (6,232}
{5,430) {6,232)
Employee benefits cost 5 (7,392) {5,641)
Depreciation {435) (372)
Amortisation (45) (87)
Impairment of iangible assets {595) -
Qther expanses {235} (B
Finance costs 7 {39) (78)
Total expenses (8,741) (6,268)
Other income 202 372
{Loss)/profit on disposal of discontinued operations (3,200) 1,078
Attributable taxafion 8 646 131
Net (loss}profit attributable to discontinued operations
(attributable to owners of the Company) (2,554} 1,209

During the year, the discontinued subgroups contributed an outflow of £4,675k {2022 - inflow
£225k) to the Group's net operating cashflows, paid £22% (2022 ~ paid £Nil) in respect of
investing activities and paid £378k (2022 ~ paid £Nil) in respect of financing activities.
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Discontinued operations (cantinued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the operations classified as held for sale

are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Deferred tax asset
Corporation tax

Total assets classified as held for sale

Trade and other payables - current
Trade and other payables — non current

Total Habilities classified as held for sale

Net liabilities of disposal group

Dividends - paid in the year

Ordinary shares;

Final for 2023 of 451p per share paid (2022 — 410p)
Interim for 2023 of 131p per share (2022 - 126.25p)

Dividends paid after the year end are not recognised as liabilities:

Dividends - paid post year end and proposed

Interim of 137p paid (2022 — 131p)

Final of 486p per share proposed {2022 — 451p)

43

2023 2022
£000 £000

- 415

131 -
173 (89)

. 260

958 -
1,262 585
(2,725) {1,342
; (1,126)
(2,725) (2,468)
(1,463) (1.882)
2023 2022
£000 £000
18,650 16,955
5,417 5221
24,067 22,176
5,665 5,417
19,271 18,850
24,936 24,087
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1" Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwili

2023 2022
Group £000 £000
At 31 March 2022 64,514 64,514
fmpairments (8,568) -
At 31 March 2023 55,946 64,514
Goodwilt includes:
Media 25,128 28,512
Genealogy 25,702 26,702
Siylist 5118 10,300
At 31 March 2023 55,946 64,514

The impairment charge results from the disposal of the Aceville business and provisions against
the carrying values of PSP Media and Stylist.
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Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets

indefinite
life Other Total

Group £000 £000 £000

At 31 March 2021 138,504 19,251 157,755

Additicns - 2889 2,658
Amortisation - (3,511) {3.511)
Retranslation of foreign assets - 1 1

impairments so- {1,410) {1.410)
At 31 March 2022 138,504 16,990 155,484

Additions - 1,870 1,870

Amortisation - {3.441) (3,441)
Transfer to assets directly associated with a

gisposal group classified as heid for sale - (639) (639)
At 31 March 2023 138,504 14,780 153,284

Al 31 March 2023, accumulated amortisation amounted to £177,922,000 (2022 -
£174,481,000).

Indefinite life intangible assets include mastheads of £72m (2022 - £72m) on the acquisition of
Puzzler Media Holdings Limited and £67m {2022 - £67m) on the acquisiticn of Aberdeen
Journals Limited.

Other intangible assets include software costs of £1.0m (2022 - £0.5m) in Puzzler Media
Holdings Limited; television programme costs of £0.2m (2022 - £0.8m) in Beano Studios
Limited; £Nil {2022 - £0.6m) magazine titles in Aceville; and datasets and customer databases
ir Brightsalid Online nnovation Limited of £13.6m (2022 - £15.0m).

45 Registered number SCO05830



DC Thomsoen & Company Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

11

Goodwill and other intangible assets {continued)

Intangible assets Indefinite

life Other Total
Company £000 £000 £0600
At 31 March 2021 - 178 178
Amortisation - {(103) {103)
At 31 March 2022 - 75 75
Amortisation - {75) (75)

At 31 March 2023 “

At 31 March 2023, accumulated amortisation ameunted to £1,903,000 {2022 - £1,828,000).
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Goodwill and other intangible assets {continued)

Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assels

The Group applies 1AS 38 Impairment of Assets, During the year an impairment of goodwili of
£8.6m was recognised (2022 - £Nil} together with an impairment of intangible assets of £Nit
(2022 - £1.4m).

The directors consider that certain intangible assets arising on acquisition have an indefinite
useful life because they represent brands which have been in existence for many years, have
strong market recognition and are central to their division's strategic plan.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions has been aliocated to the group of assets or cash-generating
units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from those business combinations. CGUs are
identified as the smallest group of assets that generate income streams that are largely
independant of each other.

Under IAS 38 the Group conducts a formal annual review to determine whether the carrying
value of the goodwill and intangible assets on the balance sheet can be justified. The
Impairment review comprises a comparison of the carrying amount of the goodwill and
intangible assets with its recoverable amount (the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use). Value in use is determined by discounting the expected cash ftows from the
assets in the CGUs.

For ali CGUs, the calculations use cash fltow projections based on forecasts for the next 5
years, reflecting the fact it is difficult to prepare detailed projections beyond that period. A
terminal value is determined using a perpetual growth facter which varies across CGUs. This
terminal value reflects the fact that the remaining life of the CGUs and value to the group
exceeds the 5-year period used in the detailed cash flow projections.

Perpetual growth rates used to ariive at terminal values range from 0% to 7.6% depending on
the nature and stage of development of the underlying CGU revenue streams. The cash flows
for CGUs have been discounted at a discount rate of 7.5%, the Group’s estimated current
cost of capital. Where the risk associated with the future cash projections is assessed to be
higher, for example due to new business areas and revenue streams, a discount rate of up to
10% has been used.

The combined excess of recoverable amount over carrying values is £55m. On that basis, the
directors are satisfied that the carrying values of goodwilt and intangible assets are
appropriate.

Other intangible assets

The intangible amortisation charge of £3.4m {2022 - £3.5m) relates to certain fifles in the
Magazine Division, film productions and datasets in the Genealogy Division. These are
amortised over their estimated useful lives.

The additions in the year refate to datasets within Brightsolid Online Innovation Limited and
software costs in Puzzler Media Holdings Limited.

At the year end, the Group reviewed the appropriateness of the remaining useful economic
lives and carrying value for all its intangible assets. The Group is satisfied that the carrying
value at 31 March 2023 of these assets remains recoverable in full,

47 Registered number SCO05830



DC Thomson & Company Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

12

Property, plant and equipment

Group Assets in
Right to Freehold Plant and course of
use assets property  equipment  construction Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 31 March 2021 17.860 77.623 85,798 a8 181,379
Additions 1,063 512 4,080 - 5,665
Transfers - 28 - (98) -
Disposals {5,129) (1.522) (3,308) - (9,859)
Retranslation of foreign assets 24 - 28 - 52
At 31 March 2022 13,818 76,711 86,608 - 177137
Additions 209 6 7.660 - 7,875
Disposals (92) (5.270) {3,240) - (8.602)
Retranslation of foreign assets 1 - 25 - 26
Transfer from assets directly
associated with a disposal
group classified as held for sale 2,627 - . 2,627
Transfer to assets directly
associated with a disposal
group classified as held for sale (620) - (232) - (852)
At 31 March 2023 15,943 71,447 90,821 - 178,211
Depreciation
At 31 March 2021 7.776 31,070 65,138 - 103,984
Charge for year 1,487 1,102 6,035 - 8,624
On disposals (4,151} (614) {3.280) - (8,045)
Retranslation of foreign assets 1" - 25 - 36
Impairment
At 31 March 2022 5,123 31,558 67918 - 104,598
Charge for year 1,533 1,122 6.233 - 8,893
On disposals {82) {1,280} (3,231) - (4,603)
Retranstation of foreign assets 4) - 18 - 15
Impaimment 59 - - - 59
Transfer from assets directly
associated with a disposal
group classified as held for sale 2,348 - - - 2,349
Transfer to assets directly
associated with a disposal
group classified as held for sale (465) - (148) - {613)
At 31 March 2023 8,503 31,400 70,796 - 110,699
Net book value
At 31 March 2023 7,440 40,047 20,025 - 67,512
At 31 March 2022 8,695 45,153 18,690 - 72,538
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Property, plant and equipment {continued)

Group (continued}

The Group annually reviews the carrying vaiue of tangible fixed assets taking recognition of the expected
working lives of the property and plant avaifable fo the Group and known requirements.

Company Assets in
Rightto  Freehold Plant and course of
use assets property equipment construction Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 31 March 2021 9,240 69,467 73,365 98 152,170
Additions 109 176 582 - 867
Transfers - 98 - {98) -
Disposals (4.981) (137) (1.255) - {6,383)
At 31 March 2022 4,358 69,604 72,692 - 146,654
Additions - - 1,262 - 1,262
Disposals - (5,115} {1,934) - {7,049)
Retranslation of foreign assets {46) - - - (48)
Transfer from assets directly
associated with a disposal group
classified as held for sale 2,827 - - - 2,627
At 31 March 2023 6,939 64,489 72,020 - 143,448
Depreciation
At 31 March 2021 6,045 28,633 58,200 - 93,878
Charge for year 468 811 2,416 - 3,695
On disposals (4,012) (108) {1,255) - {5,373)
At 31 March 2022 2,501 29,338 60,361 - 92,200
Charge for year 537 760 2,536 - 3,833
On disposals - (1,125) (1,934} - (3,058)
Retranslation of foreign assets (37) - - - (37}
Impairment 59 - . - 58
Transfer from assets directly
associated with a disposal group
classified as held for sale 2,348 - - - 2,349
At 31 March 2023 5,408 28,973 60,963 - 95,345
Net book value
At 31 March 2023 1,630 35,516 11,057 - 48,103
At 31 March 2022 1,857 40,266 12,331 - 54,454
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14

Financial assets - other business assets

2023 2022

Group Company Group Company

£000 £000 £000 £000

AT 31 March 2022 869,313 869,313 834,021 834,021
Additions 6,098 6,098 88,991 89,991
Disposals (30,618) (30,618) {18,725) (18,725)
Fair value (losses)/gains {151,136) (151,136} {36,042) (36,042)
Loan interest conversion - - 68 88
At 31 March 2023 693,657 693,657 869,313 869,313

The carrying amount of fisted business assets are stated at their fair value based on bid market
price. The potential capital gains lax payable based on these Group values 1s £30m (2022 -
£126m) and is included in Note 21.

The carrying value of uniisted investments of £28m (2022 - £23m) is based on cost less
provisions where there is no formal market as data.

Financiat assets are held at fair vaiue through profit or loss (FVTPL) and have been classified as
non-current on the basis that there is no formal disposal plan in the 12 months after the end of
the reporting period.

Interests in group undertakings

Company

A ist of the investments in significant Group undertakings is given in Note 24 to the financial
statements.

Shares toans Total

£000 £000 £000

At 31 March 2022 183,333 23,118 186,451
Additions - 3,165 3,165
Disposals {7,801) {6,000 (13,801)
Repayments - £4.879) {4.879)
{mpairments (1,800} {2,000) {3,800)
Loan interest - 456 468
Loan interest capitalised 466 (488) -
At 31 March 2022 164,188 13,404 167,602
Additions - 5,081 5,091
Repayments - (95) {95)
tmpairments (6,734) (14,318) (21,052)
At 31 March 2023 147,464 4,082 151,546
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Interests in associates

2023 2022
Group £000 £000
At 31 March 2022 1,763 3,743
Additions - 300
Loan repayments - -
Digposgal - {(1.917)
Share of loss on continuing activities (834) (132}
Retranslation of foreign assets - 3
impairment (128) (700)
Loan interest capitalised - 466
At 31 March 2023 801 1,763
Proportion of
Place of ownership
Name of associate Principal activity incorporation interest
IZ{T Limited Merchandising England 24%
Limelight Sports Group  Design and delivery of major England 34%
Limited participation sports events and
marketing campaigns
Against the Head Activities auxiliary to financial Scotland 50%
Limited intcrmcediation

Associates which have a 31 December financial year end as established on incorporation.
Appropriate adjustments have been made for the effect of any significant transactions that
occurred between the Associate’s and the Group's financial year end. This was necessary so as
to apply the equity method of accounting.

Associates are not material individually and so summarised financial information for associates
is set out below. This represents the aggregate of actual amounts included in the separate
financial staterments of associates:

£000
Post tax loss from continuing operations (1,878}
Net assets/({liabilities) 3,210
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16 Non-controiling interest - Group

Nen-controlling {minority) interest in the income statement represents the share of subsidiary
undertakings' results for the year which de not belong to the Group. En the current year, it is a
profit of £87 000 (2022 — loss £58,000).

At 31 March 2023, the non~controlling (minority) interest is a liability of £26,000 (2022 — assst
£68,000), being the non-controlling {minority} interest in subsidiaries, Clavamore Limited (Fifth
Ring) and Friends Reunited Limited.

The balance sheet figure represents the share of subsidiaries' net assets at the year-end
which do not belong to the Group. Where the non-contrelling {minority interest's share is an
asset, it is only recognised to the extent it is considered recoverable.

Non-controlling interests are not materjal individually and so summarised financial information
for minority intefests is set out below. This represents the aggregate of actual amounts
included m the separate financizl statements of minority interesls:

£000
Past tax profit from continuing operations 264
Net assets/(liabilities) (230}
Cash inflow/{outflow) (123)
17 Inventories 2023 2022
Group Campany Group Company
£000 £00¢ £000 £000
Work in progress 227 227 372 372
Finished goods and goods
for resale 205 173 142 59
Inventories of finished
goods and work in
progress 432 400 514 431
Raw matenials and
consumables 2,723 2,635 2,934 2,768
3,155 3,035 3,448 3,189

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year in respect of continuing
operations was £60,552,000 (2022 - £55,608,000).

Group inventories reflect provisions for slow moving items of £376,000 (2022 - £523,000).
Company inventories reflect provisions for slow moving items of £353,000 {2022 - £523,000)
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18 Trade and other receivabiles
2023 2022

Group Company Group Company

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade receivables 12,546 7,691 10,658 4724

Cther receivables 4,198 2,267 6,077 2,482
Contract assets 8,799 3,487 6,607 3,559

25,643 13,455 23,342 10,765

Current 25,543 13,455 23,342 10,765

Non-current - - - -

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are consistent with trading levels across the Group but are also affected by
exchange rate fluctuations.

No interest is charged on the trade receivables. The Group has provided for estimated
irrecoverable amounts in accordance with its accounting policy.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.
Credit evatuations are performed for customers requiring credit over a certain amount and as
appropriate. In addition, credit insurance is sought for major areas of exposure. The Group
reviews trade receivables past due but not impaired on a regular basis and considers, based on
past experience, that the credit quality of these amounts at the balance sheet date has not
deteriorated since the transaction was entered into and so considers the amounts recoverable.
Reqular contact is maintained with all such customers and, where necessary, payment plans
are in place to further reduce the risk of default on the receivable. The Group always measures
the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount egual to lifetime expected credit josses.

Included in the Group's trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £0.6m
{2022 - £0.6m) which are past due at the reporting date but for which the Group has not
provided as there has not been a significant change in credit quaiity and the Group belisves that
the amounts are stili recoverable.

Contract assets

Amounts relating to contract assets are balances due from customers when the Group receives
payments from customers in line with performance related milestones. Any amount recognised
as a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it is invoiced to the

customer.
2023 2022
Group Company Group Company
£000 £000 £000 £600
Opening contract assets 6,607 3,559 8,727 3,484
Transfers from contract assets to
trade receivables (6,607) {3,559) (8,727} (3,484)
Revenue recognised during the
year 8,799 3,497 8,607 3,559
Closing contract assets 8,799 3,497 8,607 3.559

The Group's contracts are for the delivery of goods and services within the next 12 months for
which the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a) of IFRS 18 applies.
53 Registered number SC005830



DC Thomson & Company Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

18 Trade and other receivables {continued)

Ageing of past due but not impaired trade receivables

2023 2022
€000 £000

Overdue by
0- 30 days 412 151
30 - 60 days 112 2658
80 + days 102 165
624 fR4

Total trade receivables are stated net of provision for bad debts as set out in the accounting
policies. These total £0.5m (2022 - £0.3m).

The directors cansider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates
their fair value.

19 Trade and other payables
2023 2022

Group Company Group  Company

£000 £000 £000 £000

Bank borrowings 809 - B26 -
Trade payables and accruals 4,622 2,692 1,977 334
Other taxes and sacial security 1,783 347 2,587 1,017
Payables due to group undertakings - 30,538 - 25,369
Other payables 15,698 8,736 14,372 6,270
Contract liabilities 14,508 3,589 14,302 3,282
Lease liabilities 4,158 2,818 9,156 1,950
46,578 48,720 43,220 38,232

Current 38,075 46,658 34,893 36,634
Non-current 8,503 2,062 8,527 1,508

Bank borrowings

Bank horrowings are payable in monthly instaiments plus interest at 3.48% over base rate. The
bank borrowings are secured by a floating charge over all the property and undertakings of
subsigiary, Brightsolid Online Technology Limited.

Trade payables and accruals

Trade and other payables are consistent with trading ievels across the Group but are also
affected by exchange rate fiuctuations.

Trade payables and accruals pringipally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and
ongoing costs. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure all
payables are paid within the agreed credit terms.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates their fair value.
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19 Trade and other payables (continued)

Contract liahilities

Amounts relating to contract lizbilities are where payments from customers exceed the revenue

recognised to date.

2023

Group  Company

£000 £000

Opening contract lizbililies 14,302 3,292
Amounis included in contract habilikes

recognised as revenue in the year {14,302) (3,292)
Cash received in advance and not

recognised as revenue in the year 14,5608 3,589

Closing contract liabitities 3,589

14,508

2022
Group Company
£000 £000
13,446 3,783
(13,446) {3,783)
14,302 3,292
14,302 3,292

The Group's contracts are for the delivery of goods and services within the next 12 months for

which the practical expedient in paragragh 121(a) of IFRS 15 applies.

Lease liabilities

The Group leases properties and plant and equipment which comprise fixed payments over the

lease terms.
2023
Group Company

£000 £000
Cpening lease liability 9,156 1,950
Transfer tu liabilities directly associated with
a disposal group classified as held for sale {(163) -
Transfer from liabilities directly associated
with a disposal group classified as held for
sale 1,432 1,432
Additions 209 -
Interest expensea 359 98
Lease payments {2,008) (633)
Impairment - -
Fareign exchange movements 171 {29)
Closing tease liability 9,158 2,818
The maturity of iease liabilities is as follows;

2023
Group Company

£000 £000
Less than one year 1,463 756
Within 1-2 years 1,479 778
Within 2-5 years 3,098 1,284
More than 5 years 3,118 -

9,158 2,818

2022
Group  Company
£000 £000
11.758 4 ARR
1,063 109
392 118
{2.278) {1,074)
{1,792) {1.792)
13 -
5,156 1,950
2022
Group  Company
£000 £000
1,387 362
7.759 1,598
9,156 1,950

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is dependent on the
country and the iength of the lease and falis within a range of 2.5% - 7.3%.
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Financial instruments
Capital management

The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to cover all liabilities and to maintain
the business and lo susiain its development.

There were no changes in the Group's approach to capital management during the year.

Neither the Parent Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to axternally imposed capital
requirements.

Categories of financial instruments

Group 2023 2022
£000 £0006

Financial assets (current and non-current)

Financial assets — other business assets 693,657 869,313

Trade and other receivablas 25,543 23,342

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss - -

Cash and cash equivalents 55,001 50,833

Financial liabilities {current and non-current)
Trade and other payables {46,578) (43.220)

Financial risk management objectives
The key divisional boards monitor and manage the financial risks relating to the operations of

that divisian, These risks inciude markef risk {including currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Market risks

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency

exchange rates.

There has been no change to the Group's exposure to market risks or the manner in which it

manages and measures risk,

The Group exposure to transactional foreign cusrency risk at the year end date is as follows:

2023

Trade receivables
Trade receivables
directly associated with
disposal group classified
as held for sale

Trade payables

Trade payables directly
associated with disposal
group classified as held
for sale

Cash and cash
equivaients

2022

Trade receivables
Trade receivables
directly associated with
disposal group classified
as held for sale

Trade payables

Trade payables directly
associated with disposal
group classified as held
for sale

Cash and cash
equivalents

Australian
Sterling Euro Us Dollar Bollar Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
11,870 - 554 22 12,546
{18) - - - (18)
(4,527) {11} (12) {72) (4,622)
{68) - - - (68)
52,937 1,252 723 8s 55,001
60,294 1,241 1,265 338 62,839
Australian
Sterfing Euro US Dollar Doliar Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
10,335 - 321 2 10,658
(20) - (88) - (108)
{1,814) - (25) {38) (1.977)
(24) - (6) - {30)
48,620 1,376 615 222 50,833
56,997 1,376 817 186 58,376
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Financial instruments {continued)}
Foreign currency sensitivity

As noted above the Group is exposed mainly {0 movements in Euras, US Dollar and Australian
Dollar rates. Timing differences impact lhe year end position repotted in these financial
statements. The Group's sensitivity o a 10% fall in the spot sterling exchange rate would be
£254k. The impact on aquity would be £768k reflecting the retranslation of net assets on
consclidation.

Credit risk management

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s
receivables from customers and investment securities.

The Group's principal financial assets, other than business assets, are trade and other
receivables and cash and cash equivalents. These represent the Group's maximum expasure
to credit rigk in relation to financial assets.

Trade and other receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer.

The balance presented in the balance sheet is net of allowances for doubtful receivables and
returns, estimated by the Group's management based on prior experience and their
assessment in the current ecenomic climate.

The Group's main concentration of credit risk relates to its where a credit risk management
approach Is employed, including strict retention of 1itle, customer stock holding visibility and the
use of credit insurance.

Trade and other payables

These payables are alf due within one year under normal trading {erms.

Liquidity risk managerment

The Group retains significant figuid assets to fund its contractual obligations and the

maintenance of the business and its ongoing development. As a result, there are no significant
liquidity risks facing the Group.
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Deferred tax liabilities

Group

At 31 March 2021

Transfer (lo}from profit and loss account
Statement of recegnised income and expense
Adjuslment in respect of prior perods
Change in tax rate

Retranslation of fore.gn assets

A1 31 March 2022

Transfer from corporalion 1ax

Transfer {to)ffrom profit and loss account
Sralement of recogi:sed income and expense
Adjusiment in respecl of prior periods
Change n tax rate

Relransiation of fereign assels

At 31 March 2023

Company

At 31 March 2021

Transfer from/{to) profit and loss account
Stalement of recogivsed income and expense
Adiusiment in respect of prior periods
Change in tax rate

Al 31 March 2022

Transfer fromf{to) profit and loss account
Statement of recognised income and expense

AL 31 March 2023

Accelerated Revalued

capital financial Pension
allowances assets surplus
EQ0) £000 £000
6,256 103.480 44,932
808 (7.650 (703)

R - 8949

(76) - .
2,156 30,262 18472
8.944 126.092 76,650
(433) (36.557) {100}

- - 14,425

a3 - -

(2) - -

4) - -
8,598 89,535 90,975
6,064 103,480 49,4932
247 (7,650} (703)

- - 8,949

(84) - -
2,219 30,262 18,472
9,246 126,092 76,650
(1,230) (36,557) {1om
B - 14,425

8,016 89,535 80,975

59

Tntangible
assets
£000

28,314

8310

34,624

Other Total
£000 £000
{124} 185,858

{57} {7.802)

- 8,949

7 {68)
{101} 58,099
(28) (28)
{303} 246,007
[} [
[4,758) (41.,848)
- 14,425

1 94

4 2
3 )]

(5,053) 218,679

{289) 159,987
(24) {8,130)

- 8,949

- (84)

(89) 50,854
(412) 211,576
(4.228) {42,115)
- 14,425
(4,640) 183,886

===== m==s==
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Deferred tax liabilities {continued}

The notional tax payable on timing differences relating fo the unreatised revaluation surplus en
financial assets and the intangible assets on the acquisition of Puzzler Media Holdings Limited
and Aberdeen Journals Limited weuld only crystallise if the related assets were disposed of
separately. The batances at each year end for revaiued financial assets, pension surplus and
intangible assets reflects the recognised asset at the relevant tax rate of 25% (2022 - 25%).

Retirement benefits

The Group operates hoth defined benefit final salary and defined contribution pensiorn schemes
covering the majority of employees with assets held in separate, trustee administered funds.

The net pension charge for the year for the Parent under [AS18 defined benefit schemes was

£400,000 (2022 - £3,700,000). In addition, contributions of £24,000 {2022 - £36,000) were |
made jo defined contribution schemes, including severance taken as pension confributions and

cther pension benefits.

Defined benefit schemes

The Parent Company and one subsidiary have members in defined benefit final salary schemes
in the UK. Independent valuations are carried out by a qualified actuary every three years
using the Projectad Unit Credit Methed. The cantributions fo the scheme are based on these
valuations.

Defined contribution schemes

Contributions by Group companies are charged 1o income statement as an expense as they fali
due.

The information below relates to the pension schemes for the Parent Company and ifs

subsidiaries.

2023 2022

£000 £.000
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year 578,600 619,500
Current service cost 5,800 8,300
Past service cost {800) 100
Interest cost 15,700 12,700
Actuarial (gains)fiosses (122,800) (30,400)
Benefits paid (33,300) (31,600)
Benefit obligation at end of year ~ wholly funded 446,300 578,600
Change in plan assets
Fair vatue of plan assets at beginning of year 885,200 882,300
Employer contributions 200 100
Expected return on plan assets 22,500 16,900
Actuarial gains/{losses) {65,300} 17,000
Interest income on assets 1,600 1,200
Benefits paid {33,300) {31,6800)
Administration expenses (700) {(700)
Falr value of plan assets at end of year 810,200 885,200
Retirement benefit surplus 363,900 308,800
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Retirement benefits (continued)

2023 2022
£000 £000
Retirement benefit surplus
Group and Company
Surplus 363,900 306,600

The actuary is unable to provide separate valuations for the Parent Company and Aberdeen
Journals Limited, so Aberdeen Journals Limited accounts for the pension fund as a defined
centribution scheme in its own company financial statements. Throughout this note "Fund” refers
to the combined position of the:

s  Thomson-Leng Provident Fund ang DC Thomson & Co Supplement Retirement Benefits
Scheme (“the Provident Fund™
« Thomson-Leng Superannuation Fund (“the Superannuation Fund”)

There is a charge to the income statement in respect of pension costs this year and in the
previous year. There is a Defined Contribution arrangement with Company contributions in respect
of some of the sections being paid from the defined benefit surplus. These contributions are
included in the service cost and will continue to be included in the service cost in future years. The
service cost is higher than in the previous year mainly due to an increase in the weighted average
contribution rate aver the year and hence the level of contributions paid into the Defined
Contribution section by the Company. The 2023 year-end disclosures include an allowance for a
redundancy exercise carried out in early 2023. This has been recognised in the past service cost
in the income statement. Both the interest cost on the liabilities and the interest income on plan
assets are higher than in the previous year due to a higher discount rate being applied. The
administration expenses were in line with the expenses for the previous year. The combined
impact in respect of interest is a credit in the income statement,

The amount of the Funded Status (assets less liabilities) that can be recognised as an asset of the
Company is consirained by the #mit set out in paragraph 64 (183) of IAS 19. This limit restricts the
recognised pension asset to the value of the benefits that will be accrued gver the remaining life of
the Fund, calculated at each year end, reduced by the value of any future contributions payable by
the members themselves. Defined Benefit accrual in the Provident Fund ceased from 31 March
2015 but has been replaced by the Defined Contribution arrangement. in addition, as a result of
auto-enrclment, in future ali employees will enter the Defined Contribution arrangement. We have
assumed a stable workforce in the future. Based on these assumptions the value of the benefits
that will be accrued over the future life of the Provident Fund is higher than the surplus at 31
March 2023 and so the Provident Fund can fully recognise the surplus. There is no surplus or
deficit for the Superannuation Fund, The 2022 figures also allow for the full surplus to be
recognised.

The surplus disclosed above has been calculated using assumptions determined in accordance
with the requirements of IAS 19. The Trustees of the pension funds use different assumptions to
determine the financial pesition of the Fund which are determined in accordance with legislation
and guidance from the Pensions Regutator. As a result, the financial position disclosed above will
be different to the financial positicn used by the Trustees in the running of the Fund. On both
bases, the valuations show the Fund is in healthy surplus.
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22 Retirement benefits (continued)
2023 2022
Components of pension cost £000 £000
Current service cast 8,500 8,300
Fast seivice cost {800) 100
Interest cost 14,100 11,500
Administration expenses 700 700
Expected return on plan assets (22,500) {16,900)
Total pension charge recognised in employee benefit
cosls 400 3,700
Totai pension gain recegnised in statement of
comprehensive incame 57,700 47,500
Plan assets
The weighied average asset allocation at the year end was as follows:
2023 2022
Asset category % %
Equities 54 56
Debt instruments 29 21
Property 4 5
Alternatives 6 5
Cash and annuities 7 12
100 100
£000 £000
Amounts included in the fair value of assets for:
Equities 441,500 492,500
Debt instruments 234,600 183,800
Property 33,000 53,400
Alternatives 45,800 41,800
Cash and annuities 54,300 113,600
810,200 885,200
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Retirement benefits (continued)

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations

2023 2022
Yo Y
Discount rate 4.87 2,78
Rate of salary growth 4.49 5.02
Inftation rate (RP1) 3.49 4.02
Inflation rate {CP{) 3.09 362
implied life expectancy at age 65
Mate currently aged 65 21.7 216
Male currently aged 45 23,8 235
Female currently aged 65 24,5 244
Female currently aged 45 28.5 26.4

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net pension cost for year

2023 2022

% %

Discount rate 2.78 209
Rate of salary growth 5.02 4.53
Inflation rate (RP) 4.02 353
Infiation rate (CPI) 3.62 3.03

To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Company considered the
current fevel of expected returns on risk free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical
level of the risk premium associated with the other asset clagses in which the portfolio is invested and
the expectations for the future returns of each asset cfass. The expected return for each assef class
was then weighled based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long-term rate of
return on assets assumption to the portfolio.

Contributions
As advised by the actuary the Parent Company will not contribute to its final salary pension ptans next
year. Contributions te the subsidiary company scheme are expected to be ENit

Defined benefit obligation — sensitivity analysis
The impact 1o the value of the defined benefit chligation of a reasonably possible change to one
actuarial assumption, holding all other assumptions constant, is presented in the table below:

Minus Pius Minus
0.25% 0.25% 0.25% Plus 0.25%  Mortality - 1
discount discount inflation inflation year age
rate rate rate rate rating
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Fair value of plan assets 810.2 810.2 810.2 810.2 810.2
Defined benefit obligation 460.8 434.8 435.4 459.2 483.7
Net defined benefit asset 348.4 3754 374.8 351.0 3465
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Notes to the cash flow statement

2023 2022
Group  Company Group  Company
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cash and cash equivalents:
Bank balances 34,604 28,261 12,977 4,240
Cail deposiis 20,397 20,397 37.856 37,856
Cash and cash equivalents 85,001 48,658 50,833 42,096
The carrying amount of these assets approximates {o their fair value.
2023 2022
Group Company Group Company
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities include:
Dividends 17,6589 17,659 17,034 17,034
Interest 653 639 732 732
18,312 18,298 17,766 17,766

These are included in prefit before taxation in the cash flow statements,

The interest arises primarily from deposits.
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24 Group companies

The Group's interest in its main group undertakings are as follows:

Country of
registration or  Principal
Subsidiary undertakings incorporation activity
Aberdeen Journals Limited Seotland Publisher
Brightsalid Online Innovation Limited Scotland Intermediate holding company
Brightsolid Online Technology Limited Scotland Secure online business services
+  Findmypast Limited England Intermediate holding company;
Genealegy and  historic  data
websites
Clavamore Limited Scotland Intermediate holding company
Fifth Ring Limited Scotland Marketing, communications,
branding and ‘itigations support
Fifth Ring Pte Limited Singapore Advertising agents and graphic
designers
Fifth Ring Inc USA Advertising agents and graphic
desighers
John Leng & Company Limited Scotland Intermediate holding company
Meadowside Leasing Limited Scotland Intermediate holding company
Puzzler Media Heldings Limited England | Intermediate holding company
Puzzler Media Group Limited England Intermediate holding company
Puzzler Media Limited England Publisher
The Stylist Group Limited England Publisher
Kingdom Radio FM Limited Scotland Radio broadcasting
Qriginal Aberdeen FM Limited England Radio broadcasting
PSP Media Group Limited Scotland Publisher
+ New Aceville Publications Limited and England Publisher
New Maze Media Limited
+ Parragen Publishing Limited England Dormant
+ Witd & Wolf Holdings Limited England Dermant

+ Anintermediate holding company for which subsidiaries are not listed.

Group undertakings are wholly owned apart from the Group interests in Fifth Ring Limited
{through holding company Clavamore Limited) which is 63%.

The Group also invests in a number of unlisted businesses using both equity and loans, some
of which are treated as associates. The amounts involved individually and collectively are not
regarced as material to the Group. Unlisted investments which are not group undertakings are
included as financiat assets in Note 13 and are carried at cost less provisions for impairment,
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Group companies {continued)

For their years ended 31 March 2023, the following subsidiaries are entitled from exemption from
audit under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 relating to subsidiary companies:
Addedpeppa Limited (08733474), Bananaman Productions Limited (SC084074), Beano
Froductions Limited (SC335331), Beano Productions Limited (SC335331). Beil and Curfew
Limited (08385742), Castlelaw {No.628) Limited (8C297222), Dandy Entertainment Limited
(SC342300), D.C. Thomson Consumer Products Limited {(SC376510), D.C. Thomson Consumer
Products {UK) Limited (SC379120}, D.C. Thomson Developments Limited (08968%93), D.C.
Thomson Enterprise Finance Limited {SC478269), DC Thomson Magazine Publishing Limited
(5C442311}), Dennis & Gnasher 3 Limited (SC335333), FriendsDating Limited (04804255), John
Leng & Company Limited {SC04434 1), Meadowside & Gullane Limiled {07747237), Meadowside
Leasing Limited (SC064080), Parragon Books Limited {(02252808), Parragon Publishing Limited
(03614382), Peter Haddock Limited (00575508), Taytel Limited {SC047968), Tayview Limited
{8C158662) and Urban Media Limited (08264507).

Contingent liabilities

The Group had guaranteed payments in favour of HMRC in respect of raw materials imports and
other materials the maximum liability under which would be £250,000 (2022 - £250,000).

At the year end, the Group had provided a guarantee of £1.2m (2022 - £1.2m) for a commercial
contract for Findmypast Limited with a third party.

The Group had also provided guarantees in respect of commercial contracts entered in tc by
Bnghtsolid Online Technology Limited with third parties.

Financial commitments

2023 2022
£000 £000
Capital commitments - Group
Contracted for but not provided 197 466

Capital commitments - Company
Contracted for but not provided - -

Related party transactions

The Parent Company undertock transactions cn an arm’s length basis with various subsidiaries
and associates. All of these transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation
and gs such advantage has been faken of the disclosure exemptions permitted by 1AS 24.
Dividends paid to directors in the year totalled £516,000 (2022 - £558,0G0) heing £Nil (2022 -
£155,000) for AF Thomson, £84,000 (2022 - £78,000) for CHW Thomson, £212,000 {2022 -
£188,000) for ARF Halfl, £148 000 (2022 - £137,000) for DHE Thomson and £71,000 (2G22 -
ENify for BJ Gray.

Control

There is no individual controlling party.

Country of registration

The Company is incorporated in Scotland and is registered at Couner Buildings, 2 Albert Sgquare,
Dundee, DR1 8Q1J, Scottand.
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Directors’ responsibilities for the preparation of financial statements

The directars are responsible for preparing the annual report and financial statements in accerdance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the UK and applicable law. Under company law the directors
must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the direclors are required to

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
. make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
. state whether applicable IFRS have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed

and expiained in the financial statements; and

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Group and Company will continue in business.

The directors are respansible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group's and Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2008. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group
and Company and hence for taking reascnable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
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Independent auditor's report to the members of DC Thomson & Company Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of DC Thamson & Company Limited (the '‘Parent Company')
and its subsidiaries (the 'Group') for the year ended 31 March 2023 which comprise the Group income
statement, the Group statement of comprehensive income, the Company statement of comprehensive
income, the Group balance shest, the Company balance sheet, the Group statement of changes in
equity, the Company statement of changes in equity, the Group statement of cash flows, the Company
statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including & summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is
appiicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the UK,

In our opinion the financial statements:
give a lue and fdir view ol the slate of he Group's and e Parent Cutnpany's alldins as at
31 March 2023 and of the Group's |0ss for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the UK
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Internationat Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)} and
appiicabie law. Qur responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial stafements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audif of the financial
staternents in the UK, including the FRC's Ethicat Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusians relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material unceriainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or Parent
Company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Qur responsibiiities and the responsiiiities of the direciors with respect to going concern are described
in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the informatian
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and cur auditor’s report thereon. Qur
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the ather information and, except to the extent
atherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conciusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our respansibility is to read the other
infarmation and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. if we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstalements, we are
required t¢ determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this ather information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit:

« theinformation given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the finangial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

= the strategic report and the directers' report have been prepared in accardance with applicable
legal requirements,

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and its
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the
strategic report and the directors' report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 raquires
us to report to you if, in our opinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

+  the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or

+  certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

Ag explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financiai statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary tc enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the
Parent Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters reiated to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whather due to fraud or error, and 1o issue an auditor's report that
includes our epinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, hut is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstalement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise frem fraud or error and are considered matertal if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the econcmic decisions of users taken on
the basts of these financial statements.
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Irregularities, including fraud, are nstances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect
of irregularities, including fraud, The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud, are detailed below.

For the Group aind Company, as part of our planning process:

We enguired of management the systems and controls the company has in ptace, the areas of
the financial statements that are mostly susceptible to the nsk of rrregularnities and fraud, and
whether there was any known, suspected or alleged fraud. Management informed us that there
were no instances of known, suspected or alleged fraud;

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks applicable to the
company. We determined that the following were most relevant: The Data Proteclion Act 2018
and Privacy Electronic Communications Regulations 2011, Health and Safety;, employment law
{inctuding the Working Time Directive); and compliance with the UK Companies Act;

We considered the incentives and opportunifies that exist in the company, including the extent
of management bias, which present a potential for irregularities and fraud to be perpetrated,
and taifored our risk assessment accordingly; and

Using our knowledge of the company, together with the discussions held with management at
the planning stage. we formed a conclusion an the risk of misstatement due to irregularities
including fraud and taifored our procedures according to this risk assessment.

For the Group and Company, the key procedures we undertook to detect irregularities including fraud
during the course of the audit included:

Enquiries with management about any known or suspected instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations and fraud;

Reading correspondence with regulators to determine the extent of compliance;

Reviewing Board meeting minutes;

Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting
estimates, in particular in relation to the carrying value of goodwill, intangibte assets,
investments, defined benefit pension scheme asset and the recognition of deferred tax on
intangible assets;

Auditing the risk of management override of controls, including through testing journal entries
and other adjustments for appropriateness,

Testing key revenue lines, in particular cut-off, for evidence of management bias; and
Reviewing the financial statement disclosures and determining whether accounting policies
have been appropriately applied.

Owing lo the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that some materiat
misstatements in the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit is praperly
planned and perfarmed in accordance with the ISAs (UK). For instance, the further removed non-
compliance is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial staterents, the less likely the
auditar is to become aware of it or {0 recognise the non-comgliance. The risk is also greater regarding
irregutarities oceurring due to fraud rather than error, as fraud invoives intentional concealment, forgery,
collusion, omission or misrepresentation. The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of
irregularities and fraud rests with the directars.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council's website at. hitp:/www frc.org.uklfauditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor’s report.
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Use of our report

This report is made solely ta the Company's members, as a body, in accardance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's repert and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by faw, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

&5tk

Gavin Black (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on hehalf of Henderson Logaie LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

31 Octaber 2023

The Visior: Building
20 Greenmarket
Dundee

DD1 4Q8B
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